GAN MMICs FOR MILLIMETER-WAVE FRONT ENDS

by

TIMOTHY ADAM SONNENBERG

B.S., North Carolina State University, 2019

M.S., University of Colorado Boulder, 2023

A thesis submitted to the

Faculty of the Graduate School of the

University of Colorado in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Spring 2024

Committee Members:

Dist. Prof. Zoya Popović

Prof. Dejan Filipovic

Prof. Andreas Gyenis

Prof. Joshua Combes

Dr. Andrea Corrion

Dr. Mauricio pinto

Sonnenberg, Timothy Adam (Ph.D., Electrical Engineering)

GaN MMICs for Millimeter-Wave Front Ends

Thesis directed by Distinguished Professor Zoya Popović

The body of work presented in this thesis addresses the need for higher-power W-band MMIC circuits to enable communications, radar and sensing at millimeter waves were spectrum allocation is still growing and evolving. This work is funded by the DARPA millimeter wave GaN maturation (MGM) program aiming to scale GaN devices and models for use in amplification and mixed signal circuits. To address the goal of the program, designs of fundamental front end circuits for functions including frequency translation, power amplification (PA), low noise amplification (LNA) and control are realized using 40nm GaN-on-SiC HEMTs. Integration of these different MMIC circuit components is explored to additionally determine the accuracy of the models in a system level operation.

Demonstrated GaN MMIC circuits in the HRL T3 process at W-band include a three stage powercombined balanced amplifier, two frequency doublers, a balanced frequency tripler, 90° and 180° phase shifters, a three stage LNA and an on-chip T/R half duplex front end. The design methodology, device selection, device characterization, MMIC layout and measurement of each of these circuits is analyzed and discussed. A single-HEMT resistive mixer, power detector and full W-band Dicke radiometer are also designed and fabricated but remain to be measured. Results show viable high-performing GaN HEMT MMIC circuits which can be implemented in existing applications to increase power density and performance.

DEDICATION

For my family.

Pour ma famille.

Dla mojej rodziny.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Professor Zoya Popović, my advisor, whose guidance, expertise, and unwavering support were instrumental throughout the course of this research. Professor Popović's mentorship has been invaluable, and her commitment to academic excellence has been a source of inspiration. Special thanks to my Ph.D. committee for their insightful feedback and constructive input that greatly contributed to the refinement of this work. Each member played a crucial role in shaping the trajectory of this research, and their collective expertise significantly enriched the quality of this thesis.

This research would not have been possible without the support of the following institutions and sponsors: University of Colorado Boulder, DARPA, HRL, Lockheed Martin, WiN Semiconductors, QORVO, ONR, and AFRL. Their financial support and collaborative spirit significantly enhanced the scope and impact of this study.

I am grateful for my dedicated colleagues whose collective efforts and collaboration enriched this research journey. Special thanks to Nicholas Miller, Paige Danielson, Jack Molles, Jose Estrada, Shane Verploegh, Laila Marzall, Aman Samaiyar, Tim Sonnenberg, Rob Streeter, Erik Kwiatkowski, Pattrick Blum, Maxwell Duffy, Mauricio Pinto, Philip Zureck, Allison Duh, Caitlyn Cooke, Amy Robinson, Connor Nogales, Seth Johannes, Tony Romano, Jooeun Lee, Alec Russell, Sofia Mvokany, Reyes Lucero, Stefan Stroessner, and Gabriel Santamaria. Each individual played a crucial role, and their collaborative efforts have significantly enriched the depth and breadth of this work.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my friends and family for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout this academic journey. Their belief in my abilities has been a constant source of motivation.

Contents

1	Int	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	W-Band Applications	2
	1.2	Millimeter-Wave Challenges	5
	1.3	Motivation	5
	1.4	Millimeter-Wave GaN HEMTs	7
		1.4.1 GAN HEMT Scaling to Millimeter Waves and Beyond	8
		1.4.2 The HRL T3 Process	11
	1.5	Thesis Organization	11
2	W-1	BAND GAN MMIC Amplifiers	12
	2.1	W-band GaN Power Amplifier Design	12
		2.1.1 Device Characterization for Large-Signal	13
		2.1.2 Broadband Millimeter-Wave Matching Networks	16
		2.1.3 BALANCED THREE-STAGE POWER AMPLIFIER	19
		2.1.4 Single-HEMT Driver Amplifier	20
	2.2	Low Noise Gan MMIC Amplifier	22
		2.2.0A Noise Measurements and Results	23
	2.3	Chapter Summary	25
3	MN	MIC Control Circuits at V- and W- Band	27
	3.1	Switches	27
		3.1.1 MMIC HEMT Switch Design	28

		3.1.2 Switch Device Selection	31
		3.1.3 Small Signal Measurements and Results	33
		3.1.4 Large Signal Measurements and Results	34
	3.2	Phase Shifters	35
		3.2.1 GAN HEMT CONTINUOUS REFLECTIVE PHASE SHIFTERS	38
	3.3	Chapter Summary	39
4	Мп	LLIMETER WAVE TRANSISTOR MULTIPLIER THEORY AND MODELLING	41
	4.1	HARMONIC GENERATION	43
		4.1.1 High frequency nonlinear effects	47
	4.2	Single-Ended Frequency Multipliers	48
	4.3	BALANCED FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS	49
	4.4	HEMT LOADPULL HARMONIC CHARACTERIZATION	51
	4.5	Chapter Summary	54
5	4.5 M11	Chapter Summary	54 55
5	4.5 MII 5.1	Chapter Summary	54 55 56
5	4.5MII5.15.2	Chapter Summary	54 55 56 57
5	4.5 MII 5.1 5.2	CHAPTER SUMMARY	54 55 56 57 57
5	4.5 MII 5.1 5.2	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 57 59
5	4.5 MII 5.1 5.2	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 57 59 61
5	4.5 MII 5.1 5.2	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 59 61 63
5	 4.5 MII 5.1 5.2 	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 59 61 63 64
5	 4.5 MII 5.1 5.2 	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 59 61 63 64 64
5	 4.5 MII 5.1 5.2 	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 59 61 63 64 64 65
5	 4.5 MII 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	CHAPTER SUMMARY	 54 55 56 57 59 61 63 64 64 65 67

6	Int	EGRAT	ed T/R Half-Duplex	
	W-1	BAND	GAN MMIC	75
	6.1	Васка	ROUND	76
	6.2	W-ban	id switched T/R module	76
		6.2.1	Integrated SPDT Switch Design	78
		6.2.2	Integrated Power Amplifier	79
		6.2.3	Integrated LNA Design	81
		6.2.4	Stability of Combined Active Circuits	82
	6.3	Measu	JREMENT SETUP AND RESULTS	83
		6.3.1	Small-Signal Chracterization	83
		6.3.2	Noise Figure Measurements	85
		6.3.3	Large-Signal Characterization	86
	6.4	Снарт	er Summary	87
7	Fu	TURE V	Work and Summary	89
	7.1	Futur	е Work	89
		7.1.1	MMIC TO WAVEGUIDE TRANSITION	90
		7.1.2	Split Block MMIC Packaging	92
		7.1.3	BIASING PCB FOR PACKAGED MMIC	93
		7.1.4	Limiters	94
		7.1.5	GAN HEMT OSCILLATORS AND VCOS	95
		7.1.6	GAN HEMT Mixers	95
		7.1.7	W-band Dicke Radiometer	96
	7.2	Summ	ary of Contributions	97
B	IBLIC	OGRAP	НҮ	99

vii

LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Millimeter-Wave Wave-guide Frequency Bands	2
1.2	mmWave GaN MMIC Processes	9
2.1	Comparison of Narrow-band V- and W-band GaN HEMT Amplifiers	14
2.2	Comparison of Broad-band V- and W-band GaN HEMT Amplifiers	14
3.1	Comparison of V- and W-band GaN Switches	29
3.2	Comparison of presented switches in 40-nm GaN	37
4.1	HEMT Amplifier Classes of Operation	44
4.2	Maximum Harmonic Normalized Current Magnitude and Conduction Angle	45
4.3	Considered Configurations of Balanced Frequency Multipliers	50
5.1	Comparison of Transistor Frequency Multipliers	73
5.2	Comparison of W-band GaAs and GaN HEMT Frequency Multipliers	74

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Atmosphere attenuation shown for different latitudes, seasons and several molecular con-	
	centrations, from [1]. The millimeter-wave frequency span and within that the W-band	
	wave-guide band are highlighted in the spectrum.	2
1.2	Hardware photographs of several W-band applications: (a) beat frequency division FMCW	
	radar for imaging [2] (b) MIMO radar with simultaneously transmitted orthogonal wave	
	forms for high resolution imaging [3] (c) UAS or Drone detection radarwith four channels [4].	4
1.3	Example front end circuit displaying components for amplification, frequency translation,	
	frequency generation and control circuits. Respective GaN MMIC circuits are shown for	
	each of these types of components.	7
1.4	(a) Typical GaN HEMT stackup (b) Johnson figure of merit shown for GaN, InP, GaAs and	
	SiGe technologies taken from [5].	7
1.5	T3 GaN HEMT crosssection with a real SEM photograph of a T-gate. The plot shows how	
	the cutoff frequency is limited by the gate length and the scaling limitations. All images are	
	taken from [5].	10
2.1	State-of-the-art published broadband W-band power amplifiers output power over frequency	
	showing: (a) five serially combined 3-stage unit PAs made in 150 nm GaN on 50 μ m SiC [6];	
	(b) 4-stage power combined 100 nm GaN on 75 μ m SiC [7]; (c) 4-stage 100 nm GaN PA [8];	
	and (d) 3-stage balanced 40 nm GaN on 50 μ m SiC PA [9]	15

2.2	Loadpull maximum point and associated contours of the nonlinear device model provided	
	by the foundry (HRL) for the four different validated foundry sizes. The plot displays how	
	the large signal drain impedance moves closer to a short on the smith chart when the device	
	size and total periphery increase.	16
2.3	Gmax of of all four validated foundry device models shown over frequency from 0-110 GHz.	16
2.4	Gain, PAE and output power at 92.5 GHz of a 4x37.5um HEMT biased at 0.25 V on the gate	
	and 12 V on the drain with a resulting quiescent current of 200 mA/mm. Load-pull PAE and	
	Output power maximums and contours of the 4x37.5um HEMT at an input drive of 18 dBm.	17
2.5	Load- and source- pull simulation setup used with the foundry HEMT model (top). Equiv-	
	alent circuit of the gate and drain right as a result of loadpull results (bottom). Devices are	
	biased at V_{DD} = 12 V and V_{GG} = -0.25 V	18
2.6	Measured and simulated $ S $ -parameters of the balanced power amplifier shown from 0 to	
	220 GHz. Measurements were conducted across W-band using an HP8510C VNA and	
	W-band frequency extender heads.	19
2.7	Photograph of balanced three-stage PA shown with off-chip MIM and the bond-wire connec-	
	tions (left) and Measured results of the output power, gain and PAE compared to simulations	
	over frequency (middle). Output power at 75, 92, 110 GHz plotted over a 2-12 dbM input	
	power (right). *****Add bias	19
2.8	Simulated output power, gain and PAE of the single-HEMT driver plotted over an input	
	power of 0-25 dBm for three different frequency points corresponding to the middle and	
	edges of the operating band: 75, 92 and 105 GHz	20
2.9	MMIC layout of the single-HEMT driver amplifier (left). Schematic and expanded view	
	layout of the gate bias network for the single-HEMT driver amplifier using shunt capacitors,	
	a stability resistor and grounded coupled lines in a low-pass topology. The same topology	
	but without the series resistor is used for the drain bias (right).	21

2.10	Stability analysis of the single-HEMT driver in a 50 Ω environment, not connected to the	
	balanced amplifier, showing (a) Nyquist stability at the plane of the HEMT device in the	
	circuit and (b) loop gain simulation from a linearized angelov model. The red X denotes the	
	point of instability.	22
2.11	Simulated maximum gain and minimum noise figure of the 2 \times 25 μm HEMT at 92 GHz	
	plotted over a swept gate bias. Corresponding drain current is shown on the right axis.	
	Simulations are shown for two different validated drain voltages of 6 V and 12 V	23
2.12	Simulated optimal noise input match shown for two different validated drain voltages of 6 V	
	and 12 V plotted over 0-110 GHz. The band of interest to the design is highlighted for each	
	case	23
2.13	Loop gain stability analysis shown for each of the three LNA stages with a layout of the LNA	
	connected to the SPDT HEMT switch. The traces shown indicate the worst-case input and	
	output impedances. The red X denotes the point of instability.	24
2.14	On-wafer NF measurement test bench used to characterize the W-band MMIC receive path	25
2.15	De-embedded measured noise figure of the three-stage LNA at a gate bias of 0 V amd a drain	
	bias of 6 V with a total quiescent current of 45 mA using the measured switch results from	
	chapter 3	26
3.1	Photograph of HEMT switch MMICs in a 40-nm GaN-on-SiC process, showing a SPST, two	
	SPDT and a SP4T switch with a total area of approximately 4 mm × 3 mm	28
3.2	Common typologies of HEMT switches showing series, shunt and series-shunt transistor	
	positioning on the top. Further variations of the shunt HEMT position is shown below:	
	travling wave and quarter-wave shunt topology.	29
3.3	Layout (top) and circuit schematic (bottom) of the double-HEMT shunt SPDT switch and	
	the SPST switch.	30
3.4	Device characterization schematic displaying at what bias and how the R_{on} and C_d parameters	
	are extracted (left). All available validated HEMT models MMIC transistor layout (right).	31

3.5	Simulated (a) Drain capacitance and (b) R_{on} of 40-nm GaN HEMTs as a function of number	
	of gate fingers, for gate widths of 25 μ m and 100 μ m	32
3.6	MMIC photo of how the SPDT with two shunt HEMTs (left) and the SP4T (right) was	
	terminated during measurements. Labled are the bondwires and GSG temrinations used for	
	this	32
3.7	Measured and simulated small signal operation of (a) the SPST switch, (b) the SPDT switch	
	with a single shunt HEMT and (c) the SPDT switch with 2 shunt HEMTs	33
3.8	Measured and simulated small signal operation of the SP4T switch for (a) path A (b) path B	
	(refer to diagram in Fig. 8).	34
3.9	Simplified block diagram of the large signal measurement setup for characterizing saturation	
	and power handling of the switches.	35
3.10	Large measurement test-bench setup photograph with labels of each individual component	
	in the test chain.	36
3.11	Measured and simulated large signal power sweep from 0 to 20 dBm of the (a) SPST (b)	
	SPDT with one HEMT, and (c) SPDT with two HEMTs switches. Simulations shown until	
	convergence is no longer met	36
3.12	Measured and simulated large signal power sweep from 0 to 20 dBm of (a) path A outlined	
	in red (b) path B outlined in blue of the SP4T HEMT switch. Simulations shown until	
	convergence is no longer met.	37
3.13	Circuit schematics of different phase shifter topologies showing (a) switched line phase	
	shifter, (b) loaded line phase shifter and (c) reflective phase shifter [10]	38
3.14	Plot of the phase states of each phase shifter along with the layout and photo of fabricated	
	MMIC circuit for the 90 degree phase shifter (left) and for the 180 degree phase shifter	
	(right) [11]	39

4.1	Schematic of a HEMT frequency multiplier ideal low frequency model showing the input and	
	output plane. Unwanted harmonics generated at the output can be shorted out, together with	
	the fundamental. The plots on the bottom show a graphical representation of the equivalent	
	HEMT circuit model.	42
4.2	Graphical representation of conduction illustrating a green input cosine waveform. The	
	conduction region of the model is shown and the portion of the input waveform which	
	conducts during a single cycle is labeled.	44
4.3	Drain current magnitude of the first five harmonic drain current components normalized	
	based on Eqn 4.4. The maximum normalized harmonic current is denoted for the first three	
	harmonics with a dotted vertical line	45
4.4	Schematic of a HEMT being driven with 15 dBm input power at 40 GHz (left) and the	
	resulting spectrum indicating harmonics are generated at drain bias of 12 V and a gate bias	
	of -1 V (Class B)	49
4.5	Schematic of balanced frequency multiplier circuit topology with labeled phase differences	
	between the ports.	49
4.6	Rejection of the fundamental, L_1 , calculated using simulated phase mismatch of (a) the	
	Marchand balun of the balanced doubler design; and (b) Lange couplers used in the balanced	
	tripler design. The simulated phase imbalanced of the couplers is shown in Fig. 5.4 and	
	Fig. 5.6	51
4.7	Simulated loadpull of fundamental 46-GHz and 2^{nd} harmonic output power of the 4×37.5 μ m	
	device matched for the fundamental source impedance on the gate and for maximum power	
	at the second harmonic for two values of drain bias: (a) 6 V and (b) 12 V at an input power	
	of 10 dBm. Both of the loadpull setups are matched for maximum power at the second	
	harmonic at the drain of the device for their respective drain voltages and conjugate matched	
	at the input for the fundamental source pull impedance.	52

4.8	Simulated loadpull of fundamental, 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic output power of the $4 \times 25 \mu m$	
	device at 30 GHz showing (a) 6 V drain bias and (b) 12V drain bias for an input power of	
	20 dBm. Both of the loadpull setups are matched for maximum power at the 3 rd harmonic at	
	the drain of the device for their respective drain voltages and conjugate matched at the input	
	for the fundamental source pull impedance.	53
5.1	Different transistor-based frequency multiplier topologies demonstrated in this paper in GaN	
	MMIC designs with output frequency nf_0 in W band: (a) single-ended frequency doubler	
	with post-multiplication amplifier (b) balanced frequency doubler and (c) balanced frequency	
	tripler	58
5.2	MMIC layout of the single ended frequency doubler with a total layout size of $2,000 \mu\text{m}$	
	\times 950 μ m. Shown in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several	
	process layers have been removed for clarity.	59
5.3	MMIC layout of modified marchand balun. The current density distribution at 44 GHz is	
	shown. The warmer red colors indicate higher current concentrations, confirming the desired	
	even excitation of the balun.	60
5.4	Simulated performance of the planar Marchand balun. (a) S-parameters up to 100 GHz; and	
	(b) phase and amplitude imbalance from 20 to 80 GHz	61
5.5	MMIC layout of balanced frequency doubler with a total layout size of $2100 \mu\text{m} \times 1200 \mu\text{m}$.	
	Shown in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several process layers	
	have been removed for clarity.	62
5.6	Simulated amplitude and phase imbalance for: (a) K-band input Lange coupler; and (b)	
	W-band output Lange coupler.	62
5.7	MMIC layout of the frequency tripler with a total layout size of $2800 \mu\text{m} \times 1550 \mu\text{m}$. Shown	
	in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several process layers have	
	been removed for clarity.	64

5.8	Nyquist stability criterion of both the single-ended (left plot) and balanced doubler (right	
	plot) from 0-330 GHz. Both plots show stable operation of the doublers up to the third	
	harmonic of the output spectrum. The different colored lines correspond to Nyquist analysis	
	in various stages of the circuits as indicated with corresponding colors. The red cross	
	indicates the Nyquist instability avoided in the designs	65
5.9	Stability analysis performed on the balanced tripler: (a) Loop gain from 0-330 GHz and (b)	
	Nyquist stability criterion from 0-330 GHz. Both plots show stable operation of the tripler	
	up to the third harmonic of the output spectrum. The different colored lines correspond to	
	Nyquist analysis in various stages of the circuits as indicated with corresponding colors. The	
	red cross indicates the Nyquist and loop gain instability avoided in the designs	66
5.10	Simulated fundamental and 2^{nd} harmonic output power of a) single ended and b) balanced	
	frequency doublers. In c) simulated 3^{rd} harmonic is also shown for the frequency tripler	
	. Results from the center and edges of the input frequency band are shown across an input	
	power range of -5 dBm to 15 dBm for the doublers and -5 dBm to 25 dBm for the tripler. \therefore	67
5.11	Photograph of the MMIC doublers for (a) single ended circuit with bond wires and off-chip	
	capacitors and (b) balanced doubler circuit.	68
5.12	Input and output match of (a) single ended doubler, (b) balanced doubler and (c) balanced	
	tripler. All measurements are performed with the Keysight E8364C and HP 8510C network	
	analyzers	69
5.13	Schematic of the large-signal test setup. The output of the HEMT is measured with the	
	spectrum analyzer and W-band power meter separately. 2.4 mm cables are used for all the	
	connections of the driving test equipment, while WR-10 or WR-8 waveguide is used to	
	connect the output probe to the waveguide power meter	70
5.14	(a) Measured conversion gain of both the single ended and balanced frequency doublers	
	shown across the output frequency band at an input driver of 10 dBm. (b) Fundamental sup-	
	pression for both the single-ended and balanced topology plotted over the output frequency	
	spectrum at an input drive of 10 dBm.	71

5.15	Measured and simulated 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic of the balanced tripler shown over the	
	fundamental frequency range of 25 to 36.6 GHz. All the measurements and simulation are	
	done at an input power of 19 dBm.	71
5.16	Measured DC power consumed by the single ended doubler, balanced doubler and balanced	
	tripler shown over measured output frequency.	72
6.1	Published W-band front ends in (a) W-band heterodyne receiver MMIC in a 60 nm GaN-on-	
	Si process (OMMIC). NR of 4.4-5.5 dB at 90-95 GHz with s 0-7.4 dB/0-6.4 dB at 75-91 GHz	
	when the LO/2 power is 20.5 dBm (IF=5 GHz/2 GHz) $3.68 \times 1.19 \text{ mm}^2$ [12] (b) 71-77 GHz	
	switched on chip front end implemented in a 130 nm 18 V drain bias Gan on SiC process. 4.3	
	x 2.5 mm ² footprint noise figure >5.5 dB >1 W output power [13] (c) W-band switched front	
	end in 80 nm InP-DHBT process. 16 dBm saturated output power at 90 GHz. >9 dB of NF	
	with >30 dB small signal gain from 75-110 GHz. 2.5x1.5mm ² [14] (d) Entire radar receiver	
	front end integrated in a 90 nm SiGe process (Global Foundries SiGe 9HP) 75-110 GHz	
	10 dBm NF 6 dB conversion gain $2.2x1.4mm^2$ [15].	77
6.2	Block diagram of the switch T/R front-end with labled individual components.	78
6.3	Layout of (a) SPDT switch with GSG pads from (cite switch paper) and (b) modified layout	
	of SPDT switch used for FE MMIC. Below plots of the (a) SPDT on and off state S21	
	measured and simulated S parameters and measured output power handling are shown in the	
	top and bottom plots respectively.	79
6.4	Simulated output power, gain and PAE of the single-HEMT driver plotted over an input	
	power of 0-25 dBm for three different frequency points corresponding to the middle and	
	edges of the oeprating band: 75, 92 and 105 GHz	80
6.5	Simulated S-parameter and noise figure performance of the receive LNA shown for two	
	cases: with and without the SPDT shunt HEMT switch connected to the input	81

6.6	Loop gain stability analysis shown for each individual 2x25 um HEMTs of the three stage	
	LNA with a layout of the LNA connected to the SPDT HEMT switch. The traces shown	
	indicate the worse case input and output impedance of the three-stage LNA. The red X	
	denotes the point of instability.	82
6.7	Measured and simulated S-parameter performance of the front end transmit path across 50-	
	110 GHz when all stages of the balanced amplifier and driver stage are biased at $V_g = 0.25$ V	
	and $V_d = 12$ V with a resulting total drain current of 250 mA. The switch in the transmit path	
	is turned on with the HEMT gate biased at -10 V while the other switch path is turned off at	
	a HEMT gate bias of 0 V	84
6.8	Measured and simulated S-parameter performance of the front end transmit path from 50-	
	110 GHz when all the stages of the LNA are biased at $V_g = -0.6$ V and $V_d = 6$ V with a	
	resulting total $I_d = 47$ mA. The SPDT switch on the receive path is fully turned on with a	
	-10 V control voltage and the other SPDT switch path is turned off at 0 V	84
6.9	On-wafer NF measurement test bench used to characterize the W-band MMIC receive path	86
6.10	Measured NF of front end receive chain plotted over frequency shown along with a de-	
	embedded NF of the LNA without the switch using measured results from [16]	86
6.11	(a) Measured and simulated output power and power gain of the front end transmit path at	
	an input power of 9 dBm. (b) Measured output power compared to simulation of the MMIC	
	at 92 GHz with 0–20 dBm input drive.	88
6.12	Measured compared to simulated DC current draw of the large signal measurement over	
	frequency of the transmit branch of the front end. Data taken from same measurement as	
	Fig 6.11	88
71	Simulation actum of the MMIC to many mile to a 't' and 't' and 't a State of the State of the State of the State	
/.1	Simulation setup of the MMIC-to-waveguide transition using 100μ m thick Si04 (left). The	
	S parameter HFSS simulation from the labeled port (right).	90

7.2	Tolerance study of the MMIC-to-waveguide transition from 7.1 showing variation of metal	
	deposition, wafer sub-dicing, spacing between transition and metal encasing and metal	
	machining of the WG cavity and feed.	91
7.3	MMIC to waveguide transition wafer run CAD drawing and fabricated wafer which was	
	cracked during processing.	92
7.4	MMIC to waveguide transition wafer run top and backside metalization defects	92
7.5	Split block package design of front end MMIC from Chapter 6 showing MMIC die, dowell	
	pin, off-chip MIM capacitors, PCB biasing board and screw holes	93
7.6	PCB Layout of the dc biasing board for the split block enclosure shown in Fig 7.5 and 3D	
	view of the populated board	94
7.7	Plot representing the ideal and real or practical responce of a millimeter wave limiter circuit	
	(Left). Circuit example of a MMIC HEMT limiter (Right) [10].	94
7.8	Fixed oscillator using a $4 \times 37.5 \mu$ m HEMT at a 12 V drain bias. The gate of the device is	
	shorted to ground through a resistor. Measured results using a HP8565E spectrum analyzer	
	are shown: (a) power spectrum of the oscillator and (b) calculated associated phase noise	95
7.9	Schematic representation of a mixer with labeled ports (a) and a photograph of the fabricated	
	single HEMT mixer (b)	96
7.10	Dicke swithed radiometer designed by integrating a SPDT switch, three stage LNA and	
	power detector. Measurements and characterization still need to be done on this MMIC	96

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Contents

1.1	W-Band Applications	2
1.2	Millimeter-Wave Challenges	5
1.3	Motivation	5
1.4	Millimeter-Wave GaN HEMTs	7
1.5	Thesis Organization	11

The millimeter-wave frequency range includes the free space wavelengths which are on the order of millimeters, from 30 GHz to 300 GHz. Several radar wave guide-bands span the millimeter-wave, all of which are summarized in Table 1.1. Crowding in lower bands, defense interests as well as semiconductor scaling has added new importance to millimeter-wave systems and particularly recently to the W-band and above. The contents of this Thesis will be focused on the millimeter-wave range of the spectrum and primarily the W-band within that, as denoted in Fig 1.2.

Frequency bands	Frequency Range (GHz)
Q	30-50
U	40-60
V	50-75
E	60-90
W	75-110
F	90-140
D	110-170
G	110 200

Table 1.1: Millimeter-Wave Wave-guide Frequency Bands



Figure 1.1: Atmosphere attenuation shown for different latitudes, seasons and several molecular concentrations, from [1]. The millimeter-wave frequency span and within that the W-band wave-guide band are highlighted in the spectrum.

1.1 W-BAND APPLICATIONS

Allocation of the spectrum between 50 and 110 GHz is still evolving and growing. Current uses include radar for both military and civilian use, radiometry including radio-astronomy and imaging as well as communication links for terrestrial and space based systems. With over-crowding in lower bands, the large

fractional bandwidth available when operating within the V- and W-bands offers an attractive high data transfer possibility and potential for fewer data links.

In the past, wireless communication primarily operated within frequency ranges below 30 GHz, where atmospheric losses are lower, as shown in Fig. 1.2. However, due to the increasing demand for sub 50 GHz spectrum, allocations in V- and W- band become increasingly attractive. Some of these frequency bands include the FCC authorized private sector point-to-point links from 71-76, 81-86, and 92-95 GHz, the automotive radar bands at 76-77 and 77-81 GHz and the FCC unlicensed 57-71 GHz band. Recent data indicates that an increasing amount of radios are being sold at V-band compared to Ka- and Q- band previous models [17] showing the growing trend towards higher millimeter-wave frequency systems.

Communications rates of 91.6 Gb/s and 78 Gb/s have been reported using 64QAM on W-band links in [18] and [4] respectively. Use of lower order constellations of 16QAM has also been demonstrated showing data rates of 8 Gb/s at 75 GHz [19]. Less crowding in these bands results in less interference for the desired signal. Smaller component size from millimeter wavelengths allows more phased array elements to be utilized increasing the directivity of the transmitted beam. Using the high absorption of W-band channels as a filter to highly attenuate possible interfering signals coupled with increased directivity aids to secure communications lines [20]. These properties also open the door to emerging applications such as deep space in the aerospace industry.

Various radar platforms have been demonstrated in W-band such as automotive radar, cloud Doppler [21], 3-D imaging and unmanned aerial system (UAS) detection [22]. Imaging at W-band has obtained a measured resolution of 0.14 [3] and 0.33m [2]. The short wavelengths enable this high level of resolution and are useful in applications such as hidden object detection for security scanners [23–26] and automotive radar for automated driving [27]. These applications also benefit from the ability to sense through visibly obstructive environments such as snow, fog and dust as well as materials such as clothing [28, 29].

Cloud Doppler radars have long operated at 94 GHz and benefit from the integrated use of GaN amplifiers which gives the system higher power and increased performance [21]. A 7 KW transmitter was demonstrated by Raytheon at 92 GHz [30] which is the highest published solid-state W-band transmitter and is intended for an active denial weapon. The transmitter spatially coherently combines 8,192 GaN-on-SiC MMIC PAs, each



Figure 1.2: Hardware photographs of several W-band applications: (a) beat frequency division FMCW radar for imaging [2] (b) MIMO radar with simultaneously transmitted orthogonal wave forms for high resolution imaging [3] (c) UAS or Drone detection radar with four channels [4].

with over 1 W of power and PAE > 20% around 93 GHz. This approach is modular and therefore scalable, with high demonstrated power-combining efficiency.

Radiometry involves the amplification and rectification of inherent electromagnetic radiation from anything above 0 Kelvin. The National Radio Astronomy Observatory (NRAO) has used the W-band for radio-astronomy with cryogenically cooled receivers [31]. Passive imaging requires a single radiometer on a movable mount or an array of multiple radiometers to collect the imaging data. With the large available bandwidths, radiometers at W-band have the benefit of requiring less gain for the same temperature resolution compared to lower bands. The drawback of passive imaging is reduced resolution at longer distances [32].

1.2 MILLIMETER-WAVE CHALLENGES

The attenuation at millimeter-waves due to atmospheric conditions is higher than at lower microwave frequencies where most satellite down- and up-links currently exist. This can be seen in Fig 1.2 were atmospheric attenuation is shown across the spectrum. Change of elevation, frequency, time and geographical location all have an impact on atmospheric conditions. Several types of free space losses exist when propagating signals at millimeter-waves: atmospheric gases attenuation, precipitation, foliage blockage, scattering effects, and diffraction [33]. Water vapor and oxygen are the primary causes of atmospheric gas attenuation which varies in frequency based on the mechanical resonant frequencies of the gas molecules.A W-band signal propagating through the atmosphere will be attenuated, but can also become depolarized from scintillation or hydrometers which are water droplets or clouds. The refractive index may vary spatially and could cause a change in the direction of propagation. When it comes to scattering effects, the smaller the wavelength is, the more rough the surface will appear and cause more diffused reflection. All of these effects coupled with other weather conditions including temperature, pressure, water vapor density, cloud cover and precipitation create a difficult environment to reliably transmit and receive data at W-band frequencies. As a result, satellite and terrestrial communication links at millimeter-waves will have to be well modeled and characterized before they can be properly utilized [34].

1.3 MOTIVATION

High attenuation of the atmosphere, potential for signal depolarization and lack of devices that can generate the required power has hampered the use of the spectrum at higher millimeter-wave frequencies. Even with proper characterization of W-band satellite links, difficulties arrive in propagating signals through the atmosphere. Overcoming these obstacles can be tackled in digital post processing [34]; however, analog advancements need to be implemented for a sustainable long term solution.

In the past, III-V compound semiconductors lack the power density to be used for millimeter wave

communications. Recently GaN, the largest bandgap semicondcutor used for transistors, has acheived $f_t/f_{max} = 300/500$ and power densities over 6 W/mm [35]. These recent advancements can be used to overcome the challenges involved with operating electromagnetic systems at milimeter-waves and particularly the W-band. With watt-level performance at W-band already demonstrated [36], GaN shows viable power density for applications requiring robust power handling and kilo-Watt power levels.

Silicon-based circuits have shown high-frequency operation with medium level power but fall short of reaching the power density of GaN. A study by [37] compared the number of elements needed for 5G requirements between different semiconductor technologies. Using efficiency values of 20 % for GaN, 15 % for GaAs, and 22 % for CMOS and SiGe, the study found that using GaN PAs requires only 30 % of the array elements needed for CMOS or SiGe MIMO arrays. This reduction in array elements scales with frequency as can be seen in Fig 1.4(b).

GaN has found extensive use in power applications starting at kHz all the way up to recently W-band and above. The high electron velocity, high breakdown voltage and good noise performance combined with the thermal properties of SiC makes the GaN HEMT the best power handling transistor available currently. The inherently broadband nature of the HEMT enables very wide-band circuits to be designed and is a good candidate for other active circuits which require large bandwidths such as frequency translation and amplification circuits.

Figure. 1.3 shows an example heterodyne switched front-end composed of fundamental circuits which are the building blocks of any RF system. These sub-circuits are able to be designed and manufactured monolithically on-chip using GaN HEMTs. The smaller guided-wavelength of W-band allows circuits with smaller footprints making it easier to integrate different MMIC circuits on the same chip. This will reduce the need for lossy, reactive and expensive interconnects. This thesis aims to begin at the individual HEMT level and build circuit components using one or multiple HEMTs. These components will then be integrated on-chip into different front-end single-chip die. The single chip front-ends and some other individual MMIC circuits are then fully packaged into split-block wave-guide modules. This is demonstrated through several different measured MMIC designs fabricated in the HRL T3 GaN process, outlined in the next section.



Figure 1.3: Example front end circuit displaying components for amplification, frequency translation, frequency generation and control circuits. Respective GaN MMIC circuits are shown for each of these types of components.

1.4 MILLIMETER-WAVE GAN HEMTS



Figure 1.4: (a) Typical GaN HEMT stackup (b) Johnson figure of merit shown for GaN, InP, GaAs and SiGe technologies taken from [5].

A HEMT is a transistor in which the channel is formed from the interface of two different semiconductor materials. In the case of GaN HEMTs, the channel or 2DEG region, is formed most commonly using AlGaN and GaN. Shown in Fig. 1.4 (a) is a standard cross-section and of a GaN on SiC HEMT. The one shown is modeled after a $4x37.5\mu$ m device in the HRL T3 process which has backside metalization. Not all millimeter-wave processes include backside metal as CPW can be accomplished with only topside metalization which simplifies the fabrication process. Most of the wafer thickness comes from the SiC substrate with the actual channel being very thin itself. Note that the layers are not drawn to scale, they are only a representation of the stackup of the MMIC process.

Johnson figure of merit (JFoM), defined as the product of f_T and BV, with various high-speed device technologies shown in Fig. 1.4(b). What this data indicates is that GaN will outperform any other semiconductor technology in power density and power handling at millimeter waves. A number of recent millimeter-wave GaN processes with gate lengths in the 20–90 nm range have shown high performance across V- and Wbands [38–41]. A considerable number of experimental and commercial GaN millimeter-wave foundries exist and are summarized in Table. 1.2. Note that the number of these foundries is growing as the technology matures.

1.4.1 GAN HEMT SCALING TO MILLIMETER WAVES AND BEYOND

The limitations of HEMT performance at scaled frequency arises from the extremely small mechanical dimensions of the device. The smaller the dimensions, the smaller the maximum voltage the HEMT can handle. Breakdown voltage is critical in power density and power handling. Properly scaling the devices can scale the f_T or the transition frequency (the frequency at which the gain of the device reaches 0) and the f_{max} (maximum oscillation frequency) into the high millimeter wave bands. Important device parameters to consider when scaling are the capacitance between the HEMT terminals (gate, source and drain) and the resistances of the gate and drain: C_{gd} , C_{gs} , C_{ds} , R_g , R_d . Scaling down the dimensions of a HEMT will severely change these parameters and as a result have a significant impact on the performance.

The gate seen in the stackup, Fig. 1.4 (a), appears to be in the center of the device as would be normal for a switch HEMT. In reality for the HRL process and others focused on use of the HEMTs for amplification, the

Foundry/ Process	Tech	GL* (nm)	ST^{δ} (um)	f_T / f_{max}	BV^+	PD^{\vartriangle}	ref
QORVO GaN09	GaN on SiC	90	100	$^{145}/n/a\mathrm{GHz}$			[42]
OHMMIC D01GH	GaN on Si	100	100	$^{105}/n/a\mathrm{GHz}$	36 V		[43]
OHMMIC D006IH	GaN on Si	60	100	$^{130}/n/a\mathrm{GHz}$	36 V		[44]
Fujitsu	GaN on SiC	80		¹⁵⁰ /190 GHz			[45]
IAF GaN15	GaN on SiC	150		⁵⁰ /160 GHz			[46]
IAF GaN10-20	GaN on SiC	100					[47]
IAF GaN10-20 70nm	GaN on SiC	70					[48]
HRL T2	GaN on SiC	140	50	⁹⁰ /220 GHz	40 V		[5]
HRL T3	GaN on SiC	40	50	²⁰⁰ /400 GHz	40 V		[5]
HRL T4	GaN on SiC	20	50	³³¹ /517 GHz			[5]
BAE Systems	GaN on SiC	140	55	⁷⁰ /155 GHz	80 V		[49]
BAE Systems	GaN on SiC	140	55	⁷⁰ /155 GHz	80 V		[49]
Mitsubishi	GaN on SiC	150	50				[50]
Raytheon	GaN on SiC	150	50				[51]
WIN NP15	GaN on SiC	150	100	³² /187 GHz			[52]
WIN NP12	GaN on SiC	120	50	³⁴ /212 GHz			[52]
NGC 0.2um	GaN on SiC	200	100	⁶⁰ /200 GHz			[53]
NGC 90nm	GaN on SiC	90	50	¹⁰⁰ /250 GHz			[53]
Intel	GaN on Si	30	n/a	³⁰⁰ /400 GHz			[54]
Intel	GaN on Si	30	n/a	¹³⁰ /680 GHz			[55]

Table 1.2: mmWave GaN MMIC Processes

^{*} Gate Length, ⁺ Breakdown Voltage, $^{\delta}$ Substrate Thickness, $^{\Delta}$ Power Density

gate is placed closer to the source terminal than the drain terminal. A longer distance between the gate and the drain allows for a higher breakdown voltage (V_{BR}) which impacts the ON-resistance (R_{ON}) and improves the transconductance (g_m). A shorter distance between the gate and source increases C_{gs} and at the same time reduces the source resistance (R_s). Spacing the gate closer to the source does not have a significant impact on f_T [56]. Gate to drain capacitance is responsible for feedback occurring in the source-grounded operation of the HEMT which negatively impacts linearity, a vital parameter for modern communication and defense systems.

Scaling the gate lengths too aggressively can cause short channel effects [57]. This effect is caused when



Figure 1.5: T3 GaN HEMT crosssection with a real SEM photograph of a T-gate. The plot shows how the cutoff frequency is limited by the gate length and the scaling limitations. All images are taken from [5].

the gate length (Lg) has been scaled down to a small enough dimension compared to the distance from the gate to the channel. This implies scaling the gate length (Lg) cannot be done without proportionately scaling the layers between the gate and the channel (epitaxial layers). In a solid state context, scaling these layers down to nm range lowers the amount of available states that are available for use in the layers. As a result, important HEMT parameters such as transconductance and intrinsic capacitances do not scale proportionally in this region. This can be seen in the plot in Fig. 1.5.

Proportional scaling of intrinsic and parasitic delay components in GaN HEMTs at HRL significantly enhances both fT and fmax up to 450 and 600 GHz range, respectively [5]. In order to address the aforementioned limitations arising from highly scaled HEMT devices, HRL has developed a four generation scaling approach. The steps of the different generations are summarized in detail in [5]. The HRL GaN process development is able to circumvent these scaling issues with selection of proper materials, material densities, use of a T gate as well as a generational approach to introducing scaled technology to millimeter wave GaN process.

1.4.2 The HRL T3 Process

The scaling of GaN HEMTs has been discussed. It is one component of a GaN process to scale up, it is another to repeatedly fabricate these devices and have them reliably operate in a variety of conditions in the field including space (radiation testing). The HRL T3 process is a recent process compared to other semiconductor technologies with gate lenghts less than 70nm such as GaAs. Available in the process are three metal layers allowing for air bridges, vias, backside metalization, SiN capacitors, TaN and Epi layers available for different sheet resistances and power handling. This 40nm GaN of Silicon Carbide (SiC) process comes with 4 validated scalable models from the foundry. These include validated linear and non-linear models as well as a NF model.

1.5 Thesis Organization

This thesis is organized in the following way. The HRL T3 GaN HEMTs are utilized in different active and passive MMIC circuits which are expanded upon in chapters 2-4. Chapter 2 describes amplification are millimeter waves for both reception and transmission of signals. The transmission section focuses on power amplifiers and large-signal operation of HEMTs, while the reception section focuses on LNAs and small-signal operation. Next, the HEMTs are demonstrated in control circuits in Chapter 3, specifically phase shifters and switches. Chapter 4 outlines frequency multiplier circuit theory while Chapter 5 showcases several W-band MMIC doublers and triplers, including design and measurements. All of the aforementioned HEMT circuits are then integrated into a front end on a single chip, described in Chapter 6. Chapter 7 concludes with highlighted contributions of this thesis, and discusses avenues for future work, including other millimeter-wave GaN MMIC designs as well as packaging of chips in waveguides at millimeter waves.

Chapter 2

W-BAND GAN MMIC AMPLIFIERS

CONTENTS

2.1	W-band GaN Power Amplifier Design	12
2.2	Low Noise GaN MMIC Amplifier	22
2.3	Chapter Summary	25

In this chapter, GaN HEMTs both for power amplification in transmission and low noise amplification in reception at millimeter waves are described. For large signal operation, the HEMTs are matched using load- and source-pull methods. This is demonstrated on two multi-stage power-combined power amplifiers each using different levels of power-combining to achieve 24 dB of output power over W-band. Low noise amplification is accomplished through small-signal and noise design. A three stage LNA is presented with a de-embeded measured NF of 4–6.6 dB and a small signal gain of 15–22 dB over 75–110 GHz. Measurement methodology and further results are also discussed in this chapter.

2.1 W-BAND GAN POWER AMPLIFIER DESIGN

Reviewing existing designs in the same technology and especially in the same process is a good start in assessing realistic design parameters. Published broadband W-band GaN PAs with various gate lengths, shown in Fig 2.1(a-c), indicate that an output power of >25 dB over 75-110 GHz is achievable. The performance of these PAs is summarized in Table 2.2 and narrowband GaN W-band PAs are also reviewed in Table 2.1. The goal of the power amplifiers designed in this chapter is to obtain broadband performance while maintaining power density and obtaining sufficient gain up to 110 GHz.

In [58], two three stage unit power amplifiers are combined with a Wilkinson and two of these Wilkinson combined amplifiers are used in a balance configuration with lange couplers. This work was demonstrated on 100nm GaN on SiC and saturated power measurements were done with a waveguide packaged chip and input power of 29 dBm showing a peak saturated power of 37.8 dBm and operates over a narrow 90-97 GHz (7.5% fractional bandwidth). Most of the narrow band PAs have over 1 W of output power, but due to the gain-bandwidth trade-off, the broadband MMIC amplifiers manage to output 1 W over the entire band only with considerable power combining. This can be seen in [36] and [59] where 5 units amps are serially combined using Lange couplers with uneven coupling ratios. Figure 2.1 shows this PA along with several other published W-band broadband PAs along with their respective footprint.

The HRL 40 nm GaN HEMTs are shown to have 3-5 dB of gain under compression implying multiple stages and power-combining will need to be utilized to reach a reasonable amount of saturated gain and output power over a wide bandwidth. For this reason, a three-stage approach with two $4x37.5\mu$ m HEMTs reactivily combined on the last stage is chosen. A 4x25um device driving and matched to a $4x37.5\mu$ m device form the first two stages and with the power-combined output stage give the amplifier a 1:2:3 staging ratio. This linear increase in periphery over the stages of the PA enable each stage to properly saturate the next and efficiently drive the stage were most of the amplification occurs, the output stage.

2.1.1 DEVICE CHARACTERIZATION FOR LARGE-SIGNAL

Biasing of the HEMTs in the amplifier is determined prior to load-pull. For the purposes of this section, only the $4x37.5\mu$ m device is considered. Note that the characterization of any other device size is conducted with exactly the same methodology. For the $4x37.5\mu$ m HEMT, a gate bias of 0.25 V at a drain potential of 12 V has a corresponding drain current of 200mA/mm. This bias point operates the HEMTs in a class AB amplifier and was selected for maximizing efficiency and output power.

Freq (GHz)	Frac. BW (%)	P _{out} (dBm)	PAE (%)	Gain (dB)	Year Ref.
71-76	6.8%	34.9	27.8%	15.2	2012 [60]
71-86	19.1%	31.4	9.9%	25.8	2018 [61]
84-95	12.3%	29.2	14.7%	19.6	2010 [62]
90-92	2.2%	32.3	11%	15	2011 [63]
77.8-89	13.4%	31	12.3%	17	2016 [64]
86–94	8.8%	30.6	8%	12	2017 [65]
88-93	5.5%	34	14%	15	2017 [66]
90-97	7.5%	37.8	18.3%	15	2020 [58]

Table 2.1: Comparison of Narrow-band V- and W-band GaN HEMT Amplifiers

Table 2.2: Comparison of Broad-band V- and W-band GaN HEMT Amplifiers

Freq (GHz)	Frac. BW (%)	P _{out} (dBm)	PAE (%)	Gain (dB)	Year Ref.
6-52	158.6%	28	20%	8-12	2020 [67]
70-105	40%	24.5	6%	16	2012 [68]
80-100	22.2%	35	-	8	2013 [59]
75-100	28.6%	33	-	15	2016 [36]
70-110	44.4%	28.6	6.5%	12	2018 [7]
71-110	43.3%	24.2	6.5%	10	2021 [8]
75-110	37.8%	20	8 %	11	[9]*
75-110	37.8%	25	9.6 %	15	[9] ⁺
75-110	37.8%	27	3 %	23	This work'

* Unit-B Amplifier - @ $P_{IN} = 9 dBm$ and 86 GHz * Balanced - @ $P_{IN} = 10 dBm$ and 76 GHz

[•] Driver + Serial - @ $P_{IN} = 4 \text{ dBm}$ and 90 GHz



Figure 2.1: State-of-the-art published broadband W-band power amplifiers output power over frequency showing: (a) five serially combined 3-stage unit PAs made in 150 nm GaN on 50 μ m SiC [6]; (b) 4-stage power combined 100 nm GaN on 75 μ m SiC [7]; (c) 4-stage 100 nm GaN PA [8]; and (d) 3-stage balanced 40 nm GaN on 50 μ m SiC PA [9].

Source- and load-pull techniques are used to determine the ideal input and output impedances respectively. These simulations are conducted at the chosen bias and at a single frequency at a time. First, a S_{11} simulation is done to find an initial input match to conduct the first iteration of load-pull. Using this initial match, load-pull is performed on the foundry device model. This results in an output reflection coefficient for a desire metric (PAE, output power). Adding this Γ value to a load tuner on the loadpull simulation allows source-pull to be conducted again for a more refined result. Source- and load-pulled values are then repeatedly updated from previous simulations in the source and load tuners at the gate and drain of the HEMT model. Due to the bilateral nature of HEMTs, this process is conducted several times until simulation results change less than a low percentage between iterations.

Results of this procedure on a $4x37.5\mu$ m HEMT model at 92.5 GHz is shown in Fig 2.4. The optimal input power for maximum PAE is 18 dBm and is used for source- and load-pull simulations. At this drive, a maximum of 28 % PAE is possible with 23.5 dB of output power. These maximum points do not coincide on the same spot on the Smith chart implying that a tradeoff between the two will be necessary. Note these



Figure 2.2: Loadpull maximum point and associated contours of the nonlinear device model provided by the foundry (HRL) for the four different validated foundry sizes. The plot displays how the large signal drain impedance moves closer to a short on the smith chart when the device size and total periphery increase.

results are only at a single-frequency, conducting the same procedure at the edge of W-band ,110 GHz, gives a maximum PAE of only 19 %.



Figure 2.3: Gmax of of all four validated foundry device models shown over frequency from 0-110 GHz.

2.1.2 BROADBAND MILLIMETER-WAVE MATCHING NETWORKS

Using the results from source- and load-pull simulations, the matching networks are designed next. This is done by turning the optimal input and output reflection coefficients into equivalent circuits modeling the gate



Figure 2.4: Gain, PAE and output power at 92.5 GHz of a 4x37.5um HEMT biased at 0.25 V on the gate and 12 V on the drain with a resulting quiescent current of 200 mA/mm. Load-pull PAE and Output power maximums and contours of the 4x37.5um HEMT at an input drive of 18 dBm.

and drain of the HEMT. The equivalent resistances R_{eq} and capacitances C_{eq} , shown in Fig. 2.5, are found using the following relations. First the source-pulled Γ_{source} is transformed into Z_{source} assuming a 50 Ω characteristic impedance. The following equations show how to turn Z_{source} into a series RC network.

$$Y_s = \frac{1}{Im(Z_{source})}, \quad R_{gate} = Re(Z_{source}), \quad C_{gate} = \frac{Y_{source}}{\omega}$$

The drain impedance for optimal PAE found from loadpull Z_{PAE} is then converted into a parallel RC network.

$$Y_{PAE} = \frac{1}{Z_{PAE}}, \quad R_{drain} = \frac{1}{Re(Y_{PAE})}, \quad C_{drain} = \frac{Im(Y_{PAE})}{\omega}$$

With $\omega = \pi f$ this calculation yields a single frequency result. These equivalent circuits form the basis for which the matching networks may be designed as they provide a simple linear model which results in quick simulations [69]. (Add bilarity)

A broadband reactive match is used for all stages to minimize the footprint and reach the desired specifications. The most critical match in the design is the power-combined output match of the last stage. The last stage is compressed for optimal desired performance (PAE, output power). The prior stages may not be operating at the same optimal compression and can lower the overall performance of the PA. The



Figure 2.5: Load- and source- pull simulation setup used with the foundry HEMT model (top). Equivalent circuit of the gate and drain right as a result of loadpull results (bottom). Devices are biased at V_{DD} =12 V and V_{GG} = -0.25 V.

maximum amount of outpower power produced always falls right at the drain of the output stage HEMTs. After this, no more amplification will occur and so to maximize output power and efficiency it is important to minimize the loss of the output matching network while still maintaining the desired bandwidth.

Microstrip lines are extensively used for matching networks at W-band frequencies. When using microstrip, it is important not to excite unwanted modes in the conductor. If a microstrip lines gets too wide, the currents will begin to flow to the edges of the line and not propagate through the line in the desired manner. A line may also only get as thick as the process allows which changes depending on what metal layer you are designing in. These two factors form the limitations of the usable impedance of the line. For the T3 process, this limitation lies between [23-67] Ω .
2.1.3 BALANCED THREE-STAGE POWER AMPLIFIER

To maximize output power and gain, two unit PAs can be power-combined using a balanced amplifier topology. The balanced topology is resilient to changes in input and output load impedance from the 90 degree hybrid coupler employed.



Figure 2.6: Measured and simulated |S|-parameters of the balanced power amplifier shown from 0 to 220 GHz. Measurements were conducted across W-band using an HP8510C VNA and W-band frequency extender heads.



Figure 2.7: Photograph of balanced three-stage PA shown with off-chip MIM and the bond-wire connections (left) and Measured results of the output power, gain and PAE compared to simulations over frequency (middle). Output power at 75, 92, 110 GHz plotted over a 2-12 dbM input power (right). *****Add bias

The multi-stage balanced power amplifier is described in detail in [9]. Briefly, two three stage amplifiers with a 1:2:3 staging ratio are power combined using two Lange couplers. To achieve this staging ratio two HEMT devices sizes are used: $4\times25 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $4\times37.5 \,\mu\text{m}$. The third stage combines two $4\times37.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ HEMTs with a quiescent drain current of 60 mA. The peak output power is measured to be 26.7 dBm at 77 GHz, and

the peak power added efficiency (PAE) around 14.8 % at 95 GHz. (talka bout gain compression and need for driver)

2.1.4 SINGLE-HEMT DRIVER AMPLIFIER

A single-HEMT power amplifier is designed as a potential on-chip driver for power amplifiers or other active and passive MMIC circuits. The goal for this design is to have broadband operation (over the entire W-band) with flat output power over that frequency range. For this circuit, a $4\times37.5 \,\mu$ m HEMT is used as it is a validated foundry size and is a good compromise between gain, PAE and power. The device characterization described above, Fig 2.4, is used for this design as well. Using the same bias point as other active HEMT circuits facilitates integration in future work.



Figure 2.8: Simulated output power, gain and PAE of the single-HEMT driver plotted over an input power of 0–25 dBm for three different frequency points corresponding to the middle and edges of the operating band: 75, 92 and 105 GHz.

Capacitors are prone to process variation and this is especially true at W-band where the necessary capacitors are small and may not be able to be achieved through a MIM capacitor in a MMIC process. For this reason capacitors were only used for DC blocking and biasing. Microstrip transmission lines a well as open and shorted stubs form the basic elements of the matching networks. At the input, a double stub matching network transforms the gate impedance to 50Ω over the entire W-band. A single stub match with series transmission lines of varying widths match the drain impedance to 50Ω at the output.

The biasing network of the driver amplifier, Fig. 2.9 is carefully designed to insure stability of the entire trasmit branch of the front-end. Both the drain and gate bias lines are a low-pass coupled line filter topology



Figure 2.9: MMIC layout of the single-HEMT driver amplifier (left). Schematic and expanded view layout of the gate bias network for the single-HEMT driver amplifier using shunt capacitors, a stability resistor and grounded coupled lines in a low-pass topology. The same topology but without the series resistor is used for the drain bias (right).

with three coupled lines based on [70]. The far ends of the two coupled lines on each side of the signal line are grounded through vias for the low-pass responce. High- and low-frequency bypass capacitors separated by a small stability resistor supress any oscillations. This networks provide below 15 dB of return loss from 65 GHz to above 120 GHz when terminated in 50 Ω . At the input or RF connection to the matching networks, the impedance of the bias line is above 100 Ω over the operational bandwidth of the driver amplifier. Connecting the bias line to a low impedance point on the matching network results in the highest RF-dc isolation [71].

Large-signal simulations of the driver are shown in Fig. 6.4 for a swept input power of 0-25 dBm at three different frequency points corresponding to the edges and middle of the operating band. It can be seen that gain, PAE and output power all drop at the high end of the band at 105 GHz. On-wafer measurements of the single-HEMT driver alone are not conducted as the circuit was with the balanced amplifier and does not have a GSG probe pad on the output.



Figure 2.10: Stability analysis of the single-HEMT driver in a 50 Ω environment, not connected to the balanced amplifier, showing (a) Nyquist stability at the plane of the HEMT device in the circuit and (b) loop gain simulation from a linearized angelov model. The red X denotes the point of instability.

2.2 Low Noise Gan MMIC Amplifier

Low noise operation of a HEMT involves biasing and modeling at a certain condition which adds the least amount of noise to the amplified signal. Device characterization must be conducted to determine the optimal performance point for the two main design parameters: noise figure and gain. Since an LNA always operates at small-signal, S-parameter simulations are used to characterize the HEMTs for gain. At the input, optimal noise figure is simulated using the available noise models from the HRL foundry.

Three single-HEMT stages are chosen for the presented LNA with each stage using a $2 \times 50 \,\mu$ m HEMT as they are the smallest validated device size offered by the process. Shown in fig. 2.11 is the simulated minimum noise figure and maximum gain of the chosen device. Gate bias voltage is swept for two different validated drain voltages of 6 V and 12 V with the respective drain current shown. At a gate bias of 0 V and a drain bias of 6 V it can be seen that there is a dip of 2 dB for the NF and a maximum of 8.5 dB of small signal gain. This bias point corresponds to the chosen quiescent drain current of 12 mA. The biasing of all of the stages of the LNA are kept the same to facilitate external biasing.



Figure 2.11: Simulated maximum gain and minimum noise figure of the $2 \times 25 \,\mu m$ HEMT at 92 GHz plotted over a swept gate bias. Corresponding drain current is shown on the right axis. Simulations are shown for two different validated drain voltages of 6 V and 12 V.



Figure 2.12: Simulated optimal noise input match shown for two different validated drain voltages of 6 V and 12 V plotted over 0-110 GHz. The band of interest to the design is highlighted for each case.

With the chosen bias of the devices, simulations determine the optimal noise and gain match at the input and output of the device respectively. Shown in Fig. 2.12 is the simulated optimal noise input match from 0-110 GHz. This was used to match the input of the first stage for best noise performance while the two later stages are matched primarily for gain as well as noise figure. The input and output of the LNA is designed to be matched to 50 Ω . Simulations of the LNA with and without the switch connected to the input are shown in fig. 6.5.

2.2.0A NOISE MEASUREMENTS AND RESULTS

On-wafer 50 Ω noise figure (NF) measurements were collected on the LNA using a custom scalar NF test bench. The MMICs are probed on an MPI TS200 probe station with GGB WR-10 100 μ m pitch probes. A QuinStar WR-10 noise diode is connected to the input RF probe through a 90° WR-10 bend, and the output RF



Figure 2.13: Loop gain stability analysis shown for each of the three LNA stages with a layout of the LNA connected to the SPDT HEMT switch. The traces shown indicate the worst-case input and output impedances. The red X denotes the point of instability.

probe is connected to a noise receive chain through a WR-10 S-bend. The noise receive chain is comprised of a commercial LNA, a mixer down converter, a local oscillator (LO) up-converter with a commercial 6× frequency multiplier, and an Agilent E4448A spectrum analyzer with noise figure measurement application. The LO is driven by a Keysight MXG N5183B signal generator. The NF measurements are calibrated to the WR-10 noise diode / WR-10 receive chain reference planes by directly connecting the components and calibrating with the proper noise diode excess noise ratio. Then, the cascaded NF measurement of the input fixture, LNA, and output fixture are measured. Finally, the NF of the LNA is determined by Friis formula with the transducer gain and NF of the fixtures calculated from their respective S-parameter measurements, while the transducer gain of the LNA is calculated from a calibrated S-parameter measurement. The Sparameters of the WR-10 probes are determined with a two-tier calibration. This approach neglects the impedance mismatches between the different reference planes in the cascaded DUT, which is a reasonable approximation for a matched MMIC. A photo of the on-wafer NF measurement test bench is reported in Fig. 6.9.

Due to the setup mentioned above, only measurements at 80, 85, 90, 95, 100 and 105 GHz are conducted. The measured NF is higher than predicted by the model, shown in Fig. 6.5. Measured NF of the receive path are shown on Fig. 6.10 along with de-embedded NF of the LNA alone, based on measured switch loss from [16]. The measurements show a minimum NF of 5.2 dB at 80 GHz and a peak NF of 7.8 dB at 100 GHz. These results are consistent with measured noise parameter data of individual millimeter-wave GaN HEMTs [72].



Figure 2.14: On-wafer NF measurement test bench used to characterize the W-band MMIC receive path.

2.3 Chapter Summary

This chapter covered the modeling and design of GaN HEMT power amplifiers and LNAs. For large signal operation, a balanced three stage power-combined power amplifier and single-HEMT driver amplifier are demonstrated. For the balanced power amplifier, the third stage of both unit amplifiers combine two $4\times37.5\,\mu$ m HEMTs with a quiescent drain current of 60 mA. The peak output power is measured to be 26.7 dBm at 77 GHz, and the peak power added efficiency (PAE) around 14.8 % at 95 GHz. A three stage LNA with a measured small-signal gain of 20-25 dB across 70-110 GHz and a minimum NF of 5.2 dB at



Figure 2.15: De-embedded measured noise figure of the three-stage LNA at a gate bias of 0 V and a drain bias of 6 V with a total quiescent current of 45 mA using the measured switch results from chapter 3.

80 GHz and a peak NF of 7.8 dB at 100 GHz is also demonstrated. Contributions from this chapter are reported in [73], [74] and [75].

Chapter 3

MMIC CONTROL CIRCUITS AT V- AND W- BAND

CONTENTS

3.1	Switches	27
3.2	Phase Shifters	35
3.3	Chapter Summary	39

Millimeter-wave MMIC integrated systems require control circuits as essential building blocks. Control circuits are used to control signals in terms of phase, direction and amplitude. These circuits in RF and millimeter wave front ends include switches, phase shifters, attenuators and limitors. This chapter discusses how to use GaN HEMTs to design phase shifters, attenuators and limitors and then will go more in dept into the design and operation of switches at millimeter-waves, covering V- and W- bands.

3.1 Switches

Half-duplex wireless communications, radar, imaging and radiometry rely on switches to route signals through chosen paths. In these on-chip systems, the switch must be low loss, handle high power and have large isolation between ports. At millimeter waves, choice of topology and semiconductor technology is critical to acheiving high performance MMIC switches. Integrated switches have been realized in several



Figure 3.1: Photograph of HEMT switch MMICs in a 40-nm GaN-on-SiC process, showing a SPST, two SPDT and a SP4T switch with a total area of approximately $4 \text{ mm} \times 3 \text{ mm}$.

different semiconductor technologies: CMOS [?,76], SiGe [77,78], GaAs [79], and graphene [80]. W-band switches implemented in a 180nm CMOS process have a measured 1-dB compression point of 11 dBm [81]. A $P_{1dB} = 24$ dBm is achieved in SiGe BiCMOS with a PIN diode [82], and $P_{1dB} = 22$ dBm with SiGe HBT technology in [77]. High 1-dB compression points have been shown up to 300 GHz with $P_{1dB} = 14$ and 19 dBm for two and one 160- μ m periphery transistors in a metamorphic 50 nm GaAs process [83].

When used in a GaN front end, HEMT switches must be able to handle the output power of a high power amplifier as the signal will flow through the switch before arriving to the antenna. Table 3.2 gives a comparison of W-band GaN switches published to date, all using a shunt HEMT topology.

3.1.1 MMIC HEMT Switch Design

This section demonstrates four different switches, shown in Fig. 3.1, that cover 50-110 GHz with high isolation and low insertion loss, showing no signs of compression up to the measured 20 dBm input power. Published GaN HEMT switch results show $P_{1dB} > 24$ dBm demonstrated for a HRL 40-nm GaN SPDT switch [84], and $P_{1dB} > 25$ dBm for an IAF 100-nm GaN HEMT switch with 160 μ m periphery [40].

It is possible to connect MMIC switches in several different ways. Transistors can be connected in a series, shunt or a a combination of the two. These transistor configurations can also be cascaded to improve performance. Particularly above 50 GHz, series transistors are avoided as they become too lossy due to the capacitive feed in the off-state and the added loss in the on-state of the switch [76]. For this reason, shunt

Freq (GHz)	Туре	IL (dB)	ISO (dB)	P _{1dB} (dBm)	Year Ref.
66-134 [△]	SPDT*	1.2–2.2	16.8–20	>25	2018 [40]
<u>68-134</u> [△]	SPDT*	1.1–2.1	17.6–21.5	>25	2018 [40]
60-110 [†]	SPST	0.9-1.4	>9	>24	2014 [84]
80-100 [†]	SPDT*	1.3–1.7	>9	>24	2014 [84]
55-110 [†]	SPST	0.9-3.5	25-30	>20+	This Work
62-110 [†]	SPDT*	1-2.2	15-20	>20+	This Work
55-110 [†]	SPDT [■]	1.8-8	30-40	>20+	This Work

Table 3.1: Comparison of V- and W-band GaN Switches

[△] 100 nm, [†] 40 nm, ^{*} SPDT single-HEMT, [■] SPDT double-HEMT

⁺ Peak large-signal values @ $P_{IN} = 20 \text{ dBm}$ and 92 GHz



Figure 3.2: Common typologies of HEMT switches showing series, shunt and series-shunt transistor positioning on the top. Further variations of the shunt HEMT position is shown below: travling wave and quarter-wave shunt topology.

transitors are used for MMIC switches at mmWaves. There are two different types of viable shunt-HEMT switch topologies: traveling wave and quater-wave. A traveling wave-topology utilizes the concept of an artificial transmission line to reflect the signal in the off-state and act as a 50 Ω matched transmission line in the on-state. These switches can obtain very wide bandwidths which comes at the cost of more loss compared to the quarter-wave shunt topology.

The chosen topology for the swithces in this work is the quarter-wave shunt topology. A shorted HEMT in the on-state provides a short to the signal which will appear as on open after the quater-wave transmission



Figure 3.3: Layout (top) and circuit schematic (bottom) of the double-HEMT shunt SPDT switch and the SPST switch.

line. In the off-state, the shorted HEMT is pinched off and acts as a grounded capacitor loading the line. This off-state capacitance is typically resonated out with a shorted inductive stub place directly at the drain. The shorted stub also provides a dc ground at the HEMT drain.

The shorted stub and intrinsic capacitance from the HEMT form a parallel resonant *LC* circuit and with the electrical length of the $\lambda/4$ section results in the main bandwidth limitations [40]. Terminating the quarter wave line with a perfect short is not easily accomplished at millimeter-wave frequencies where ohmic losses and parasitic reactances increase. Using more than one shunt source-grounded HEMT to improve isolation and power handling was demonstrated by InGaAs metamorphic HEMTs, at the cost of insertion loss [79].

Fig. 3.3 shows the circuit diagram and MMIC layout of the double-HEMT SPDT switch from Fig. 3.1, which uses $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu$ m devices in each branch and compensating inductive shorted stubs, which also provides a dc ground to the drains. The switches are operated with a control voltage of -10 V for the ON state and +3 V for the OFF state through a 1.6 k Ω resistor to the gate of the HEMT. In order to be measured on-wafer, the switches are terminated in 100 um GSG pads which were optimized for operation across V- and W- band.



Figure 3.4: Device characterization schematic displaying at what bias and how the R_{on} and C_d parameters are extracted (left). All available validated HEMT models MMIC transistor layout (right).

3.1.2 Switch Device Selection

It is well understood that in a millimeter-wave shunt-switch circuit, a HEMT is turn off during the on-state of the switch and therefore is capacitive and loads the through path. Using HEMTs with more fingers and a larger gate periphery results in increased capacitance, but also in increased isolation and power handling. This will result in a higher insertion loss in the on-state compared to smaller peripheries. It is therefore relevant to choose the proper device periphery for the switch with the above tradeoffs in mind.

Offered with the HRL T3 process are 4 validated foundry device sizes. Validated models come from direct measurements of that particular size and foundry device sizes between the validated sizes are extrapolations of those measurements. Fig. 3.4 illustrates the available validated foundry models and how the HEMTs are characterized. The characterization of the HEMTs was performed on the devices the same way they would be implemented in a shunt switch which is with a source grounded HEMT with a large resistor $(1.6K\Omega)$ at the gate.

The Ron of the considered HEMTs is simulated using the foundry device model at a -10 V bias. The off state capacitance of the HEMTs is simulated when the device is turned off at a gate bias of 3 V. Fig. 3.5 shows a comparison for 2–12 fingers of a 25- μ m and a 100- μ m wide HEMT, of the extracted parameters. These gate lengths were chosen as they represent the smallest and largest gate length that the HRL T3 process can offer. Plotting these two limits shows the trend for all the gate lengths in the process as they will fall somewhere in between the two.

In the characterization of the HEMTs in Fig. 3.5, two trends can be observed. As the total periphery of



Figure 3.5: Simulated (a) Drain capacitance and (b) R_{on} of 40-nm GaN HEMTs as a function of number of gate fingers, for gate widths of 25 μ m and 100 μ m.

the HEMT increases, the Ron of that device lowers due to the resistance being spread to more parallel finger widths, Fig. 3.5 (b). However, the larger the periphery gets, the larger the drain to source capacitance or off state capacitance of the device increases, Fig. 3.5 (a). Considering this tradeoff, a device size of $4x37.5\mu$ m was chosen as a solid compromise between off state capacitance and on state resistance. This device size is also has a validated foundry model and therefore more accurate modeling and simulations than extrapolated sizes is expected.



Figure 3.6: MMIC photo of how the SPDT with two shunt HEMTs (left) and the SP4T (right) was terminated during measurements. Labled are the bondwires and GSG temrinations used for this.

3.1.3 Small Signal Measurements and Results

On-wafer small-signal measurements were conducted with an HP8510C VNA with WR-15 and WR-10 frequency extender heads for V- and W-band S-parameter characterization, respectively. On-wafer SOLT calibration using $100 \,\mu$ m GSG probes on a W-band impedance standard substrate (ISS) from Cascade Microtech, was done for both bands of interest. The switches which have all adjacent or orthogonal GSG pads are loaded with a 100um GSG probe and V- or W- band termination depending on which measurement is being conducted. The SPDT with two shunt HEMTs and the SP4T have multiple paths in the same direction and therefore a GSG probe cannot be used to load these ports. Instead, a GSG 50 Ω on-wafer termination is placed as close as possible to the GSG pad of the switch and a bond-wire is used to electrically connect them, Fig. 3.6.



Figure 3.7: Measured and simulated small signal operation of (a) the SPST switch, (b) the SPDT switch with a single shunt HEMT and (c) the SPDT switch with 2 shunt HEMTs.

A summary of measured results from 50 to 110 GHz in small-signal operation and compared with simulated data is shown in Fig. 3.7 for the SPST and SPDT switches. The SPDT switch with a single shunted HEMT in Fig.3.7(b) achieves an isolation of 15–20 dB and an insertion loss of 0.9–3 dB, while that in Fig. 3.7(c) achieves an isolation of 30–40 dB and an insertion loss of 1.2–8 dB. The SP4T switch small-signal measurement results are shown in Fig. 3.8. The SP4T switch can only be measured one path at a time; the path which is at an angle w.r.t. the input port (path A) shows an insertion loss of 3.7–7.5 dB from 50–105 GHz with up to 40 dB of isolation in two symmetrical branches, 3.8(a). The other path (path B) measures an insertion loss of 5.5–10 dB from 68–105 GHz with up to 40 dB of isolation, 3.8(b).



Figure 3.8: Measured and simulated small signal operation of the SP4T switch for (a) path A (b) path B (refer to diagram in Fig. 8).

3.1.4 LARGE SIGNAL MEASUREMENTS AND RESULTS

Power handling of the switches was measured using a W-band large signal bench consisting of two W-band power amplifiers at the end of the chain to measure up to 20 dBm at the plane of the DUT at 92 GHz. The large-signal measurement setup is shown in Fig. 3.9 and a photo of the real lab test setup is shown in Fig. 3.10. The HP83650A source supplies the starting power to the Ka-band amplifier (QPW-18402020-J0) which drives the passive frequency tripler (QPM-93003W), bringing the CW signal up to W-band. After the tripler, a BPF (QFL-B4SW00) filters out the unwanted harmonics and feeds the CW single-tone signal to the two W-band amplifiers (QPI-W01820-H4W0 and custom W-band HPA). The amplifiers are protected



Figure 3.9: Simplified block diagram of the large signal measurement setup for characterizing saturation and power handling of the switches.

with isolators at the output of each and a 20 dB waveguide coupler is used to protect the WR-10 power meter (NRP110TWG). Finally, the CW test signal is brought to the plane of the DUT with several waveguide sections through a 100- μ m pitch WR-10 waveguide GSG probe.

At the output, the measured signal is coupled off to another WR-10 power meter through a 10 dB coupler, which is terminated in a WR-10 load. Losses of the passive couplers, isolators, waveguide straight and bend pieces, and probes are measured using the HP8510C VNA and used to de-embed the measurement plane from a calibrated power meter to the GSG probe tips or DUT plane. Power sweeps from 0 to 20 dBm at the DUT were done for each presented HEMT switch at 92 GHz.

The output power of each of these measurements for the SPST and SPDT switches is shown in Fig. 3.11 along with EM-simulated MMIC nonlinear model data. For the SP4T switch, two measurements, one for each of the symmetrical branches, are shown in Fig. 3.12. Nonlinear simulations agree with measurements within the available testing power range, and indicate a 1-dB compression point above 40 dBm for the SPST.

3.2 Phase Shifters

Critical in phased array systems is the control of the phase in each individual element of the array. MMIC phase shifters on MMIC can be realized in several ways shown in Fig 3.13. Discrete phase shifters switch



Figure 3.10: Large measurement test-bench setup photograph with labels of each individual component in the test chain.



Figure 3.11: Measured and simulated large signal power sweep from 0 to 20 dBm of the (a) SPST (b) SPDT with one HEMT, and (c) SPDT with two HEMTs switches. Simulations shown until convergence is no longer met.



Figure 3.12: Measured and simulated large signal power sweep from 0 to 20 dBm of (a) path A outlined in red (b) path B outlined in blue of the SP4T HEMT switch. Simulations shown until convergence is no longer met.

Freq (GHz)	Туре	Periphery [∆] μm	IL (dB)	ISO (dB)	P _{1dB} (dBm)	Size mm ²
55-110	SPST	300	0.9-3.5	25-30	>20+	0.6
62-110	*SPDT	150	1-2.2	15-20	>20+	1.125
55-110	■SPDT	300	1.8-8	30-40	>20+	1.4
-	SP4T	-	-	-	-	3.92
50-105	Path A	300	3.7-7.5	30-40	>20+	-
68-105	Path B	300	5.5-10	30-40	>20+	-

Table 3.2: Comparison of presented switches in 40-nm GaN

^A Periphery of individual branch of each switch * SPDT single-HEMT, • SPDT double-HEMT

⁺ Peak large-signal values @ $P_{IN} = 20 \text{ dBm}$ and 92 GHz



Figure 3.13: Circuit schematics of different phase shifter topologies showing (a) switched line phase shifter, (b) loaded line phase shifter and (c) reflective phase shifter [10].

between discrete phase states, or bits, whereas continuous phase shifters transition between phase states smoothly [10], [85].

From an analog circuit design perspective, the discrete phase shifter can be designed using switches and different lengths of transmission line to create different phase shift states. To obtain the desired phase difference through the phase shifter, the switches are selected in a way that chooses the path with a specific delay that corresponds to the required phase at a specific frequency. The design of continuous phase shifters is slightly more involved. A common topology is using 90 degree hybrid couplers and varying the impedances on ports 3 and 4, Fig 3.13, to change the phase of the signal as it passes through, as thoroughly reviewed in [11].

3.2.1 GAN HEMT CONTINUOUS REFLECTIVE PHASE SHIFTERS

Two continuous reflective phase shifters using GaN HEMTs are briefly presented: a 90° phase shifter and two of these circuits cascaded into a 180° phase shifter. To design a reflective phase shifter two main parts are needed: the 90 degree hybrid coupler and the reflective loads. For both designs, a lange coupler was chosen as the 90 degree hybrid coupler MMIC implementation due to its small footprint at W-band and broadband operation. The reflected load is acheived through gate-bias controlled diode-connected $4x25\mu$ m HEMTs as variable reactances. A control voltage of -1 V to +1 V allows a large variable impedance to be

achieved. The drains of these devices are connected to the lange coupler and a large resister at the gate aids in decoupling the control bias from the RF path.

These designs are both shown in Fig. 3.14 along with the measured phase states of each. Greater than 90° phase shift with less than 10 dB loss over the entire range of phase states is achieved over all of V- and W-bands. Power compression measurements were conducted for linearity at 95 GHz and showed a 19 dBm P1dB compression point. The cascaded design utilizing two lange couplers can be dynamically biased with its two separate control voltages to reduce the insertion loss of the circuit. Results indicate that there is strong agreement between the foundry model simulations and the measured results for predicting phase states, but does not predict the power compression characteristics of this type of circuit.



Figure 3.14: Plot of the phase states of each phase shifter along with the layout and photo of fabricated MMIC circuit for the 90 degree phase shifter (left) and for the 180 degree phase shifter (right) [11].

3.3 Chapter Summary

This chapter covered the design and modeling of V- and W- band switches and phase shifters using GaN HEMTs. The HEMTs are used in a source-grounded configuration with a large resistance at the gate where

the control voltage is fed. The quarter-wave shunt switches are biased at -10 V for the on state and 3 V for the off state. The HEMTs in the phase shifters are used as tunable reactances with a continuous control voltage between -1 to 1 V.

Four switches are demonstrated including a SPST, two SPDTs and a SP4T showing tradeoffs in performance based on HEMT periphery selection. None of the switches showed any signs of compression with up to 20 dBm on input power at 92 GHz with simulations indicating compression of the SPST switch occurring after 40 dBm (10W). These switches are fundamental building blocks of other components and systems including switches line phase shifters, Dicke radiometers and switched T/R front ends. The contributions of this chapter are published in [16].

Two continuous reflective phase shifters, one 90 degree and one 180 degree, are designed and validated with measured results. A lange coupler is used for both of the designs with two cascaded lange couplers being used in the 180 degree phase shifter. Large-signal measurements showed a P1 dB compression point of 19 dBm. Phased array systems and test instrumentation are possible applications of these designs. The results on phase shifter MMICs are published in [11] and partially in [75].

Chapter 4

MILLIMETER WAVE TRANSISTOR MULTIPLIER THE-ORY AND MODELLING

Contents

4.1	Harmonic Generation	43
4.2	Single-Ended Frequency Multipliers	48
4.3	BALANCED FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS	49
4.4	HEMT LOADPULL HARMONIC CHARACTERIZATION	51
4.5	Chapter Summary	54

In Chapters 2 and 3, nonlinear circuits such as power amplifiers and switches are described. Although these circuits are nonlinear in the sense that the output is not directly proportional to the input, the input and output signals are at the same RF frequency by design. There is a class of circuits, however, where the input and output frequencies are by design different, and these require high levels of nonlinearity in the circuit components. Examples are in signal generation (oscillators) which convert dc to RF, rectifiers which convert RF to dc, mixers which convert signals at two input frequencies (e.g. the LO and RF) into a signal at a third frequency (e.g. IF), pulse-compression circuits which convert a single-frequency signal to a broadband pulse,



Figure 4.1: Schematic of a HEMT frequency multiplier ideal low frequency model showing the input and output plane. Unwanted harmonics generated at the output can be shorted out, together with the fundamental. The plots on the bottom show a graphical representation of the equivalent HEMT circuit model.

and frequency multipliers which convert a signal at a single frequency to signals at the harmonics. Frequency doublers and triplers, as well as their implementations in GaN MMICs at millimeter-wave frequencies, are discussed next. This chapter covers the theoretical basis for frequency multiplication in nonlinear circuits, while Chapter 5 gives example designs and their performance.

4.1 HARMONIC GENERATION

Harmonic generation of a HEMT circuit is next analyzed at a fundamental level using a simplified equivalent circuit. Beginning with a standard low frequency HEMT model, a simplified model for determining the harmonic content of a frequency multiplier is extracted. As shown in Fig 4.1, the simplified model is reduced to an input plane where the input gate waveform $V_g(t)$ produces a non-sinusoidal drain current I_d with an equivalent resistance at the input R_g which can also be modeled but will be ignored for the following analysis. The output plane consists of a nonlinear current source dependant on the input waveform and trans-conductance of the device defined by:

$$g_m = \frac{\partial I_d}{\partial V_g} = \frac{-I_{d\,max}}{V_p} \tag{4.1}$$

Where I_{dmax} is the maximum drain current and V_p is the peak voltage at which the gate can still conduct. Ideal IV curves at the output plane, Fig 4.2, graphically show the limitations of the HEMT model. The maximum input voltage swing the device can conduct or handle falls between the knee voltage V_{knee} and the breakdown drain voltage BV_{ds} . Both of these parameters are process dependant and may change significantly from one semiconductor technology to another. The conduction angle is the portion of the input waveform that conducts during a full cycle given in radians or degrees:

Conduction Angle =
$$\cos(\theta) = \frac{V_p - V_{bias}}{V_{g \ in \ max} - V_{g \ in \ min}}$$
 (4.2)

Figure 4.2 shows a graphical representation of this definition and Eqn 4.2 gives the mathematical expression. Note that the gate bias gives direct control over the conduction angle. Classes of operation can be determined similar to the case of a FET amplifier except for this design, the emphasis is on biasing for largest harmonic generation instead of fundamental amplification. Table 4.1 summarizes amplifier classes based on their respective conduction angle. Up to a conduction angle of $\pi/2$ radians, the FET is in linear operation and does not generate any harmonic content. Once the input waveform is clipped on the maximum conducting parameters of the model (V_{knee} , BV_{ds}) the output waveform becomes a Fourier cosine series described by:

$$I_d(t) = I_{dc} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_{dn} cos(n\omega t)$$
(4.3)



Figure 4.2: Graphical representation of conduction illustrating a green input cosine waveform. The conduction region of the model is shown and the portion of the input waveform which conducts during a single cycle is labeled.

and each individual harmonic component can be written as:

$$I_{dn} = \frac{2I_p}{\pi} \frac{\sin(n\theta)\cos(\theta) - n\sin(\theta)\cos(n\theta)}{n(n-1)^2(1-\cos(\theta))}, \quad \text{for } n > 1 \quad \text{and } I_p = I_{max}(1-\frac{V_g}{V_p})$$
(4.4)

where n is the harmonic number and I_p is the peak current the device can handle.

Sweeping the conduction angle θ in Eqn 4.4 leads to a nice graphical method of determining the optimal angle for a desired harmonic, Fig 4.3. In this case the optimal angle for the second harmonic is 1.05 radians and the optimal angle for the third harmonic is 0.7 radians. These harmonic drain current magnitudes are summarized in Table 4.1 along with the fundamental component magnitude.

 Table 4.1: HEMT Amplifier Classes of Operation

Class	A	AB	В	C
Conduction Angle	360°	>180°	180°	<180°



Figure 4.3: Drain current magnitude of the first five harmonic drain current components normalized based on Eqn 4.4. The maximum normalized harmonic current is denoted for the first three harmonics with a dotted vertical line.

At the output of the model, Fig 4.1, the voltage in the load will take the form of Eqn 4.5.

$$V_{dn} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} V_d cos(n\omega t)$$
(4.5)

To determine the optimal load, R_L , for a multiplier one can use the following relation, shown in Eqn 4.6, for a desired harmonic n.

$$V_L = I_n R_L \tag{4.6}$$

The power at the load of the multiplier is given is by:

$$P_{Ln} = \frac{1}{2} I_{dn}^2 R_L$$
 (4.7)

Table 4.2: Maximum Harmonic Normalized Current Magnitude and Conduction Angle

n th Harmonic	Current Magnitude	Conduction angle
1	0.5365	2.15 rad
2	0.2757	1.05 rad
3	0.1845	0.7 rad

The dc power with be the n=0 harmonic component of the Fourier series of the harmonic power.

$$P_{dc} = V_{d,n=0} I_{d,n=0} = V_{d \, bias} I_{d \, dc} \tag{4.8}$$

In order to maintain conservation of power, the power inputs and outputs can be expressed as Eqn 4.9. The dissipated power at the output, P_{diss} , is composed of the loss converted to heat in the device.

$$P_{in} = P_{out} + P_{diss} \quad \text{where, } P_{in} = P_{RF} + P_{dc} \tag{4.9}$$

Taking into account,

$$Z_{in\,Gate}(\omega) = R_g + \frac{1}{j\omega C_{gs}} \tag{4.10}$$

which is shown in Fig 4.1, the average power at the input may also be computed:

$$P_{av} = Z_{in\,Gate} \left(\frac{V_g}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{2} (V_{g\,in\,max} - V_{g\,bias})^2 \omega^2 C_{gs}^2(R_g)$$
(4.11)

The power at the output of the multiplier is at a desired harmonic of the input frequency. In an ideal case, the power at the output can be expressed as:

$$P_{out} = I_{dn}^2 \frac{R_L}{2} \tag{4.12}$$

The dc power is simply the product of drain bias voltage and the resulting dc drain current:

$$P_{dc} = I_{d\,n=0} V_{d\,bias} \tag{4.13}$$

With a perfectly matched source, P_{in} is equal to the average power, Eqn 4.11. All that is left of Eqn 4.9 is the dissipated power. For this we can begin in the time domain and use Parseval's theorem, for an arbitrary variable x as given in [86]:

$$P = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T |x(t)|^2 dt = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T x(t) x^*(t) dx = \sum_{-\infty}^\infty z_n z_n^*, \text{ where } x(t) = \sum_{-\infty}^\infty z_n e^{j\omega nt}$$
(4.14)

The total average power of x(t) is the sum average of its phasor components, z_n . Parseval's theorem applied to the dissipated power:

$$P_{diss} = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T I_d(t) V_d(t) \, dt = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} I_{dn} V_{dn} \tag{4.15}$$

With the dc and average power determined, it is now possible to define efficiency for frequency multipliers. Commonly used efficiencies are defined by:

$$\eta_{drain} = \frac{P_{nf_0}}{P_{f_0}}$$
(4.16)

$$\eta_{total} = \frac{P_{nf_0}}{P_{f_0} + P_{dc}}$$
(4.17)

$$\eta_{dc} = \frac{P_{nf_0}}{P_{dc}} \tag{4.18}$$

$$PAE = \frac{P_{nf_0} - P_{f_0}}{P_{dc}}, \quad for \ n > 1$$
(4.19)

Where P_{f_0} is the output power at the fundamental, P_{nf_0} is the output power at the $n^t h$ harmonic. Note that the efficiency of frequency multipliers will always be lower than an amplifier and several of these efficiencies may results in negative values, if the conversion gain is less than 1.

4.1.1 HIGH FREQUENCY NONLINEAR EFFECTS

In reality, in addition to the g_m nonlinearity, the capacitance at the gate and drain, C_{gs} and C_{gd} as well as C_{ds} are also nonlinear. In GaN, C_{gd} is the dominant nonlinearity. Ideal capacitors contain no charge at 0 V; however, due to the voltage drop at the source resistance and intrinsic charges in HEMTs, the ideal assumption does not hold (integration constants are not zero). The capacitances in the device can more accurately be expressed as a Fourier series shown as a phaser representation in Eqn 4.20 as a function of voltage.

$$C(V) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n e^{jn\omega t}$$
(4.20)

$$Q(V) = \int C(V) \, dV \tag{4.21}$$

In order to consider feedback, the harmonics are reflected back to the gate of the device. Considering a desired output harmonic n, the (n+1) and (n-1) terms are fed back to the gate. The assumption is made that all mixing products as a results of the feedback are in phase at the output and contribute to the output power at the desired harmonic P_n . Defining a harmonic feedback coupling coefficient M_n , power gain of frequency multiplication from the fundamental to the desired n^{th} harmonic G_m and large signal amplification of the n^{th}

harmonic that is fedback G_n , and the conversion gain of the mixing products of the fedback content G_{conv} , the power at the harmonic becomes:

$$P_n = (1 - M_n) [P_0 G_M + P_n M_n G_n + (P_{n-1} M_{n-1} + P_{n+1} M_{n+1}) G_{conv}] + \dots$$
(4.22)

Where P_0 is the output power at the fundamental. To consider feedback we can use S parameters and the same stability criterion that is used for power amplifiers.

$$k = \frac{1 - |S_{11}|^2 - |S_{22}|^2 + |S_{11}S_{22} - S_{12}S_{21}|^2}{2|S_{12}S_{21}|} > 1$$
(4.23)

From the approximation of high frequency effects, it can be seen that it becomes increasingly difficult to analytically design a frequency multiplier. For this reason, in practice, there is a heavy reliance on device modeling and simulation using computational tools. This realistic modeling of GaN HEMTs at W-band will be outlined below but still rely on the basic principles stated above to operate. In reality phase of mixing products will not be ideal, especially at millimeter waves.

4.2 SINGLE-ENDED FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS

Single-ended active frequency multipliers can be implemented in any of the biasing schemes discussed above using a single transistor. As long as clipping of the waveform occurs, harmonics are generated. This principle is shown in Fig 4.4 using a $4x37.5 \mu$ m device model driven with 15 dBm of input power at 40 GHz. The plot of the spectrum indicates that harmonics are generated at this condition for a drain bias of 12 V and a gate bias of -1 V (Class B). The question then becomes what is the best class of operation for a frequency multiplier. In practice, Fig 4.3 can be used as a starting point for determining biasing for a desired harmonic *n*. Asymmetrically distorting the output waveform will generate even harmonics and symmetrical distortion will generate odd harmonics. For ideal performance, undesired fundamental and harmonic content must be shorted out as shown in Fig 4.1 with a bandpass filter. Single-ended frequency multiplier design using GaN HEMTs will be covered in Chapter 5.



Figure 4.4: Schematic of a HEMT being driven with 15 dBm input power at 40 GHz (left) and the resulting spectrum indicating harmonics are generated at drain bias of 12 V and a gate bias of -1 V (Class B).

4.3 BALANCED FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS

A balanced circuit topology inherently cancels the unwanted frequency content, while the power at the desired harmonic adds constructively at the output. With two identical multiplying branches in a balanced approach, the output power can be increased by up to 3 dB compared to the single-ended case, given the transistors in the two branches are saturated.



Figure 4.5: Schematic of balanced frequency multiplier circuit topology with labeled phase differences between the ports.

Balanced frequency multipliers require proper analysis of the phase difference between the balanced ports at all relevant harmonics. The method for determining the phases at the coupler output ports is well documented in [87]. The phase difference between the output ports at the n^{th} harmonic is given by Eqn 4.24.

$$\Delta \Phi_n = n[\theta_2(f_0) - \theta_1(f_0)] + [\varphi_2(nf_0) - \varphi_1(nf_0)]$$
(4.24)

where $\theta_2(f_0) - \theta_1(f_0)$ is the phase difference between the two balanced ports of the input coupler at the fundamental and $\varphi_2(nf_0) - \varphi_1(nf_0)$ is the phase difference between the input ports of the output coupler at the *n*-th harmonic, refer to Fig 4.5. The rejection of the *n*th harmonic at the output is given by:

$$L_n = 10 \log \left[\cos^2 \left(\frac{\Delta \Phi_n}{2} \right) \right] \quad (dB)$$
(4.25)

This formulation does not take into account any amplitude or phase imbalances of the input and output couplers, or the rejection of the fundamental by the individual multipliers in both branches. The above relations yield several useful configurations for frequency multiplication which will be considered further for designs in GaN. In this thesis, two cases of the balanced configuration are used for a balanced doubler and tripler design. Multiplication factors of 4 or more will not be considered as multipliers that offer higher orders are generally a combination of doubling and tripling circuits. The chosen phases for the couplers in the multipliers demonstrated here are summarized in Table 4.3 along with several possible MMIC implementations.

	Doubler	Tripler
$\Delta heta(f_0)$	180°	90°
$\Delta arphi(nf_0)$	0°	90°
Possible MMIC Implementations	Balun ⁺	Lange ⁺
	Rat Race	Branch Line
	Tandem X	Hybrid

Table 4.3: Considered Configurations of Balanced Frequency Multipliers

⁺ Chosen coupler topology for each respective multiplier

A Marchand balun and Lange coupler are the chosen couplers for the balanced doubler and tripler respectively. The effect of the imbalance on harmonic rejection of the fundamental, L_1 , is examined in Fig. 4.6 for the phase and amplitude imbalance of the Marchand balun and Lange couplers used in the designs detailed in Chapter 5. From these plots, it is seen that the balun and coupler designs are capable

of 80 dB rejection of the fundamental over their entire band of operation. Further, with this amount of suppression offered by the couplers alone, the matching networks in both of the balanced branches can be tuned for maximum desired harmonic output and does not need to focus on filtering or shorting the fundamental over a broad bandwidth.



Figure 4.6: Rejection of the fundamental, L_1 , calculated using simulated phase mismatch of (a) the Marchand balun of the balanced doubler design; and (b) Lange couplers used in the balanced tripler design. The simulated phase imbalanced of the couplers is shown in Fig. 5.4 and Fig. 5.6.

4.4 HEMT LOADPULL HARMONIC CHARACTERIZATION

Generating the maximum amount of desired harmonic power from a HEMT is vital to achieving conversion gain in an active multiplier. Characterization of the HEMT begins with the bias selection, followed by harmonic loadpull nonlinear simulations to determine device harmonic performance within the accuracy of the nonlinear models. The harmonic loadpull simulation was performed for up to 5 harmonics of the input fundamental frequency in order to capture HEMT power output beyond the cutoff frequency of the device. In this section, the loadpull simulations of two device sizes of the HRL T3 process are considered and analyzed in terms of harmonic generation: a $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu$ m and a $4 \times 25 \,\mu$ m periphery HEMT.

The $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ HEMT model is validated through measured data by the foundry, for drain supply voltages of 2, 6 and 12 V. The device has a sufficiently small periphery, and thus a low intrinsic capacitance while still providing enough gain and output power to achieve conversion gain. To determine which drain



Figure 4.7: Simulated loadpull of fundamental 46-GHz and 2^{nd} harmonic output power of the $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu$ m device matched for the fundamental source impedance on the gate and for maximum power at the second harmonic for two values of drain bias: (a) 6 V and (b) 12 V at an input power of 10 dBm. Both of the loadpull setups are matched for maximum power at the second harmonic at the drain of the device for their respective drain voltages and conjugate matched at the input for the fundamental source pull impedance.

voltages give better performance for harmonic generation, loadpull is conducted at a class-B gate bias of -1 V, at both the 6 V and 12 V drain supply voltage points, shown in Fig. 4.7 (a) and Fig. 4.7 (b), respectively. A mid-band fundamental frequency of 46 GHz is used for the simulations. Each of the loadpull setups are matched for maximum second harmonic power at the drain of the device for their respective drain voltages and conjugate-matched at the input for the fundamental source pull impedance.

The results show a 9 dBm output power at the 2nd harmonic for a 6 V drain supply, 1 dBm greater than at the 12 V drain bias for the same input drive of 10 dBm. At the 6 V supply voltage, less fundamental power is generated than at 12 V, making circuit design for fundamental rejection easier. The 6 V bias contours extend over a larger impedance range than the 12 V bias contours, resulting in an easier match. Therefore, a supply voltage of 6 V is a better choice for a balanced doubler to take advantage of the larger range of



Figure 4.8: Simulated loadpull of fundamental, 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic output power of the $4 \times 25 \,\mu$ m device at 30 GHz showing (a) 6 V drain bias and (b) 12V drain bias for an input power of 20 dBm. Both of the loadpull setups are matched for maximum power at the 3^{rd} harmonic at the drain of the device for their respective drain voltages and conjugate matched at the input for the fundamental source pull impedance.

impedances that provide a good match for output power, Fig. 4.7 (a). A -1.7 V gate bias point near pinch off is a good option for a single ended design whereas the optimal gate bias of a balanced design should be held at -1 V. The resulting low quiescent drain current of both doubler bias offers an advantage for efficiency, accompanied by a rich harmonic content of which the 2nd desired harmonic is the largest in magnitude.

The $4 \times 25 \,\mu$ m HEMT is an extrapolated device model from the $2 \times 25 \,\mu$ m HEMT. The HEMT is biased in class-A operation at $V_g = 0.5 \,\text{V}$, with $I_d = 30 \,\text{mA}$, which results in high fundamental power and increasingly more odd-harmonic power as the device becomes over-driven and the waveform clipping increases [88]. Harmonic loadpull at both the 6 V and 12 V drain bias is conducted at an input drive of 20 dBm for the class A bias mentioned above. Results shown in Fig. 4.8 indicate 2 dBm more 3^{rd} harmonic output power can be

obtained at the 12 V bias over the 6 V bias and consequently the 12 V drain bias optimal for a tripler. The fundamental and 2^{nd} harmonic may be significantly larger than the desired 3^{rd} harmonic, but are filtered out by design of the matching networks and the balanced topology. This loadpull data specifies impedances for the designs presented in the next chapter.

4.5 Chapter Summary

This section covers the theoretical basis for frequency multiplers using a simplified HEMT model. Harmonic generation is characterize for an ideal HEMT multiplier. Equations modeling ideal harmonic output power, multiplier efficiency amd harmonic rejection. are presented and discussed. Two HRL T3 GaN HEMTs are then harmonically characterized for frequency multiplication using load-pull simulations. A $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu$ m HEMT is characterized for optimal second harmonic generation for both a single ended design and a balanced design. A $4 \times 25 \,\mu$ m extrapolated device size is characterized for largest third harmonic generation for a balanced design, determining optimum load impedances for design of frequency doublers and triplers. The contributions of this chapter are partially presented in [89].
Chapter 5

MILLIMETER-WAVE GAN FREQUENCY MULTIPLI-CATION CIRCUITS

Contents

5.1	Active Frequency Multipliers	56
5.2	Design Methodology	57
5.3	Experimental Characterization	64
5.4	Results and Analysis	67
5.5	Chapter Summary	70

Frequency multiplication is the shifting of a signal from one frequency to an integer multiple of that frequency. At higher millimeter-wave frequencies, frequency multiplication is one way to provide sufficient local oscillator power for mixers, and drive power for power amplifiers. This section will outline the active HEMT circuit topologies capable of this function expanding upon and validating the theory discussed in Chapter 4. Two different frequency doubler MMICs are designed, measured and compared. A full W-band tripler is also demonstrated.

5.1 ACTIVE FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS

Frequency multipliers require a nonlinearity in order to generate harmonics of the input signal. Not only is this non-linearity used, but it is maximized in order to get the best conversion gain possible. Frequency multipliers can be designed from nonlinear microwave components such as diodes and transistors. At W-band, passive and active multipliers have been demonstrated in various technologies. Diode GaAs Schottky [90–92], varactor [93] and nMOS [94] doublers have conversion loss that varies with bandwidth and frequency range, with demonstrated MMIC loss between 4 and 34 dB. These passive multipliers require relatively large input powers and result in typical efficiencies below 30%. GaAs doublers covering a very wide bandwidth from 50 to 128 GHz with about 12 dB conversion loss are described in [95]. Transistor multipliers require generally lower input powers and can have conversion gain. Table 5.1 gives a comparison of demonstrated W-band multiplier using diodes and transistors where some of the designs include multiplier chain topologies with added amplification between stage. A higher frequency octupler (100–140 GHz) [96] and a 70–110 GHz quadrupler [97], both with post-multiplication amplifier stages, in SiGe BiCMOS technology demonstrated 15 and 10 dB conversion gain, respectively. Technologies such as CMOS [98, 99] and InP [100, 101] show W-band conversion loss between 7 and 3 dB.

A number of HEMT multiplier chains are presented in [102, 103], e.g. in [103] a GaAs sixtupler with output power of over 7 dBm and a conversion gain of more than 6 dB in a 3-dB-bandwidth of 78 to 104 GHz is reported. Other GaAs MMIC multipliers include a ×4 cascaded doubler with two gain stages at the end of the chain [104], a 68-80 GHz GaAs pHEMT doubler with a maximum output power of 10 dBm with -6 dB of conversion gain [105]. InP HBT multipliers have also been demonstrated [100] with a doubler/quadrupler chain integrated with a V-band VCO. A traveling-wave topology in [106] shows a frequency doubler utilizing four FETs designed in a 0.1 μ m GaAs pHEMT MMIC process and a measured peak conversion gain of 3.2 dB from 85 to 100 GHz and a peak saturated output power of 9 dBm. A traveling wave doubler was realized in a 0.15 μ m GaAs pHEMT process using 6 FETs measured a peak conversion gain of -4.3 dB and maximum output power of 7.1 dBm at W-band [107]. Lower frequency active doublers have also been demonstrated, e.g. a hybrid GaAs 10 – 20 GHz using a class-E topology with conversion gain up to 7 dB and 42.7% peak

drain efficiency [108]. The only published GaN multiplier, to the best of the authors' knowledge, is a doubler demonstrated at 77 GHz with -5 dB conversion gain and 10 dBm output power in [109].

Here we demonstrate two GaN doublers with conversion gain at an input power of 10 dBm and a tripler with 8.6–11.5 dBm output power at 19 dBm input accross W-band. The MMIC mutlipliers are implemented in an advanced 40-nm GaN on SiC process with f_T/f_{max} =200/400 GHz [116], in several circuit architectures shown in Fig. 5.1. Both of the doubler MMICs use two identical HEMTs, one in a single-ended and the other in a balanced topology. In order to achieve gain and fundamental suppression, an amplifier stage is added after the multiplier stage, as shown in Fig. 5.1 (a), while combining two doublers can be used to achieve increased output power, as shown in Fig. 5.1 (b). An investigation of these two-transistor topologies shows tradeoffs in combining the two approaches for best performance, with a goal of achieving W-band conversion gain with simultaneous increased output power and high fundamental frequency suppression. The tripler MMIC is design in a balanced architecture with two identical multiplying branches for power combining, Fig.5.1(c). In addition to the high-power handling capability of GaN, these multipliers can be monolithically integrated with other demonstrated circuits, such as watt-level power amplifiers [117, 118], phase shifters [119], switches and LNAs [120]. These active multipliers can be operated from the same high supply voltage as other front-end GaN circuit components.

5.2 Design Methodology

5.2.1 SINGLE-ENDED DOUBLER TOPOLOGY

The single-ended topology is composed of a doubling stage followed by an amplifier stage at the 2^{nd} harmonic. Since a single HEMT can provide 9 dBm of 2^{nd} harmonic power at a 10 dBm input drive at 46 GHz, the circuit will benefit more from the second device operating as a post-multiplication amplifier as opposed to a fundamental driver amplifier for the doubler. The post-multiplication amplifier stage is biased at 12 V for higher output power and this is used for the doubling HEMT as well.

The doubling device is matched to the fundamental source pull impedance using microstrip transmission lines. The interstage match converts the drain impedance at the 2nd harmonic of the doubling HEMT to the



Figure 5.1: Different transistor-based frequency multiplier topologies demonstrated in this paper in GaN MMIC designs with output frequency nf_0 in W band: (a) single-ended frequency doubler with postmultiplication amplifier (b) balanced frequency doubler and (c) balanced frequency tripler.

 2^{nd} harmonic source impedance of the amplifying device matched to 50Ω at the output. The layout of the fabricated MMIC is shown in Fig. 5.2, with bias lines that alternate in position to allow enough room for the stability networks discussed below.

The multiplying HEMT is biased in class-C to generate harmonics while the second amplifying HEMT is biased in class-AB is to achieve maximum output power at the second harmonic. The second stage device periphery is chosen such that the power of the output signal from the first stage can compress the second stage. This allows better efficiency out of the second stage amplifier. In the interstage a small series capacitor which isolates gate and drain voltages, allows for high-pass response and suppression of the fundamental frequency that is still generated by the first stage. The output impedance of the second stage is chosen to be



Figure 5.2: MMIC layout of the single ended frequency doubler with a total layout size of $2,000 \,\mu\text{m} \times 950 \,\mu\text{m}$. Shown in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several process layers have been removed for clarity.

the loadpull impedance that achieves maximum output power of the 2nd harmonic of the doubling device.

5.2.2 BALANCED DOUBLER TOPOLOGY

In an ideal balanced topology, the fundamental frequency content is perfectly shorted when combined at the output. The 2nd harmonic currents are in phase at the output and combine in magnitude [121]. Since a balanced topology is used, 3 dBm more input drive will be necessary to compress the individual HEMTs compared to the single-ended topology. Biasing the individual multiplying branches in class B allows more harmonic generation at lower input drive levels then a class C bias.

The input coupler of the balanced doubler topology requires a 180° phase shift and even power split of the input signal at the two balanced ports. Several approaches to this coupler have been realized, e.g, a Lange coupler combined with a CPW phase shifter in [113], a 180° rat-race in [122], and a planar Marchand balun in [123]. The millimeter-wave operating frequency of the circuit enables implementation of a planar balun in a reasonable footprint. With the three metalization layers and airbridges in the HRL T3 process, a planar Marchand balun is designed as shown in Fig. 5.3.

Traditional planar Marchand baluns utilize two coupled lines with the ends of one of the lines tied to ground through vias. Planar baluns which contain only one grounded line tend to have more leakage fields,



Figure 5.3: MMIC layout of modified marchand balun. The current density distribution at 44 GHz is shown. The warmer red colors indicate higher current concentrations, confirming the desired even excitation of the balun.

creating additional loss. A third coupled line is added to the planar balun to minimize this leakage field and lower through-loss in the signal path, as in [124]. Furthermore, to increase coupling between the grounded edge quarter-wave lines of the balun, air bridges are used at three different places along each branch [95]. This helps maintain an even power split and 180° phase split over a broad frequency range. The quarter wave coupled lines are curved to make the circuit fit in a 2100 μ m × 1200 μ m footprint and with GSG pads that allow aligned probing. The layout of the curved planar Marchand balun is shown in Fig. 5.3 along with the RF surface current magnitude distribution at 44 GHz.

The balun is design for fundamental input frequencies from 37.5 to 55 GHz. Since an even phase shift and power split are essential for canceling the fundamental and properly combining the 2nd harmonic at the output, special care is taken to minimize the phase and amplitude error. Small-signal S-parameters of the three coupled-line planar Marchand balun are displayed in Fig. 5.4 (a) and Fig. 5.4 (b) showing the phase and amplitude imbalance. Simulations of the balun reveal a 180° phase shift across the operating bandwidth of the doubler with a phase variation of $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$. An amplitude imbalance of ± 0.1 dB is realized across that same band.

A supply voltage of 6 V is chosen for the balanced doubler to take advantage of the larger range of impedances that provide a good match for output power, Fig.4.7(a). To preserve symmetry, the bias lines do not cross the virtual ground plane in the middle of the circuit. For this reason, the HEMTs of the balanced



Figure 5.4: Simulated performance of the planar Marchand balun. (a) S-parameters up to 100 GHz; and (b) phase and amplitude imbalance from 20 to 80 GHz.

doubler are biased separately from each side of the chip through their own off-chip capacitors.

Reactive matching converts the 50 Ω balun impedance to the fundamental source impedance of the HEMT. The same input matching network is used for both devices, and the drains of the doubling HEMTs are reactively power-combined and matched to 50 Ω at the output. The drain impedance found from loadpull is used to create the initial match and large signal simulations of nonlinear Angelov models are used to tune the network for optimized performance. The layout of the balanced doubler is shown in Fig. 5.5 with highlighted stability networks which will be discussed in further sections.

5.2.3 BALANCED TRIPLER TOPOLOGY

The 25–33 GHz input of the balanced tripler is fed through a 90° coupler, creating the two balanced branches. The fundamental harmonic component remains 90° out of phase between the multiplying branches as it passes through. The 2^{nd} harmonic voltages are 180° out of phase after the multiplying HEMTs, while the 3^{rd} harmonic voltages are 270° out of phase. The 90° output hybrid then combines all the harmonic powers



Figure 5.5: MMIC layout of balanced frequency doubler with a total layout size of $2100 \,\mu\text{m} \times 1200 \,\mu\text{m}$. Shown in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several process layers have been removed for clarity.



Figure 5.6: Simulated amplitude and phase imbalance for: (a) K-band input Lange coupler; and (b) W-band output Lange coupler.

from the balanced multiplying branches resulting in the 3rd harmonic component combined in phase, the 2nd harmonic to be 90° out of phase, and the fundamental to distructively interfere.

The input and output couplers need to have a 90° phase shift through their respective bands of operation.

There are several possible MMIC implementations for such couplers, listed in Table 4.1. The ideal coupler offers a perfect phase shift and amplitude split over a broad frequency range while having a small footprint on a MMIC layout. A Lange coupler is chosen due to its broadband properties and compact form factor. Any deviation from 90° phase difference or 3 dB power split between output ports results in degradation of the performance of the balanced topology as the harmonics will no long combine properly. The simulated amplitude and phase imbalance of the implemented couplers is shown in Fig. 5.6.

5.2.4 STABILITY ANALYSIS AND SIMULATED PERFORMANCE

W-band HEMTs have high gain at lower frequencies, therefore stability needs to be carefully analyzed from dc to several harmonics of the output frequency. Small stability resistors at the gates of the HEMTs increase loss, lower conversion gain and lower efficiency, and are therefore avoided for all circuit designs. Alternatively, potential instabilities are corrected through stability networks for stability up to the 3^{rd} harmonic. These networks consist of capacitors and RC networks added to the bias lines which present a short to ground at lower frequencies where gain of the device is high. Resistors are added in between the capacitors in the bias lines ranging from $5-30 \Omega$ to attenuate resonances which may occur between the reactive components. K-factor, Nyquist stability criterion and loop gain were analyzed for frequencies up to the third harmonic. The Nyquist polar plots in Fig. 5.8, Fig. 5.9 (b) and the loop gain simulation plots in Fig. 5.9 (a) show stable operation of the circuits up to 330 GHz.

Further stability analysis with swept input and output reflection coefficients allows instabilities arising from input and output mismatch to be found and corrected. Additionally, modeling bond wires with full-wave analysis, as well as including modeled off-chip capacitor networks at the bias pads of the circuits for both large- and small-signal simulations helps in revealing potential parasitic resonances in the bias networks.

Fig. 5.10 shows the simulated output power of the 2^{nd} harmonic and unwanted fundamental as a function of the input power for all the presented circuit topologies as well as the 3^{rd} harmonic for the tripler. The single-ended doubler has a maximum simulated power of 21 dBm at an input drive of 15 dBm. The fundamental suppression varies between 25 to 55 dBc up to the 100 GHz upper edge of the operating band, and decreases to 15 dBc at 110 GHz. The balanced doubler has more power at a lower input drive and



Figure 5.7: MMIC layout of the frequency tripler with a total layout size of $2800 \,\mu\text{m} \times 1550 \,\mu\text{m}$. Shown in the figure are the main metal, capacitor and resistive layers. Several process layers have been removed for clarity.

saturates at 15 dBm output power. Fundamental suppression is approximately constant across power and frequency at ≈ 30 dBc. A maximum simulated output power of 11.8 dBm accross W-band is shown for the tripler at an input drive of 25 dBm.

5.3 Experimental Characterization

Measurements are conducted on a Summit 9000 probe station for both small- and large-signal measurements.

5.3.1 SMALL SIGNAL MEASUREMENTS

The chip die and off-chip capacitors are epoxied using Epo-Tek H20 on a gold-nickel coated coppermolybdenum (CuMo) carrier plate, Fig.5.11 (a). The off-chip capacitors are arranged in a ladder configuration with the smallest capacitors wire-bonded to the on-chip bias pads. DC probes are landed on the largest of the off-chip capacitors and connected to the dc power supplies through a low-frequency parallel RC filter to eliminate potential ground loops occurring in the probe station. Photographs of the two doubler chips are shown in Fig. 5.11.



Figure 5.8: Nyquist stability criterion of both the single-ended (left plot) and balanced doubler (right plot) from 0-330 GHz. Both plots show stable operation of the doublers up to the third harmonic of the output spectrum. The different colored lines correspond to Nyquist analysis in various stages of the circuits as indicated with corresponding colors. The red cross indicates the Nyquist instability avoided in the designs.

The small-signal output match is measured with a HP8510C network analyzer with W-band extenders while the input is loaded with a 2.4 mm 50- Ω load at the probe. The input match is measured with an Agilent E8364C PNA while the output is held at 50 Ω with a WR-10 waveguide load and probe. All small-signal on-wafer measurements were calibrated with a TOSM calibration using impedance standard substrates (ISS) 101-190 and 104-783 from Cascade Microtech for the fundamental input and harmonic output matches, respectively. With this measurement setup, the input and output match of the active multipliers is measured in their respective frequency bands, and the small-signal measured results are shown in Fig. 5.12 and compared to simulated data.

5.3.2 LARGE SIGNAL MEASUREMENTS

The on-wafer measurement setup including both the fundamental and harmonic measurement is summarized in Fig. 5.13. A HP83650A synthesized swept-signal generator provides the 37.5-50 GHz or 25-36.6 GHz input signals and drives the HP83050A system amplifier. A 10 dB, directional coupler connects directly to



Figure 5.9: Stability analysis performed on the balanced tripler: (a) Loop gain from 0-330 GHz and (b) Nyquist stability criterion from 0-330 GHz. Both plots show stable operation of the tripler up to the third harmonic of the output spectrum. The different colored lines correspond to Nyquist analysis in various stages of the circuits as indicated with corresponding colors. The red cross indicates the Nyquist and loop gain instability avoided in the designs.

the 100 μ m GSG probe to bring the RF CW test signal to the DUT input reference plane. Since the source is limited to 50 GHz, it is only possible to test up to 100 GHz at the 2nd harmonic output for the doublers. An on-wafer *through* calibration on a standard alumina substrate from Cascade Microtech is used to calibrate the losses of the probes. The loss of the 2.4 mm coaxial 10 dB coupler is measured, and along with the measured losses of the cables and probes, a power calibration is performed to the reference plane of the DUT at the input and output.

The output power at the fundamental is measured using a HP8565E spectrum analyzer with a 100 μ m coaxial GSG probe. To test the 2nd harmonic output, the spectrum analyzer is replaced with a W-band waveguide power meter for the doublers and a V-band waveguide power meter for the tripler. The power meter is connect to a WR-10 or WR-8 waveguide coupler, which is in turn connected to the GSG probe through a 1 mm coax transition and cable. Due to limitations in the test setup, the input drive is limited to 10 dBm and 19 dBm at the device plane for the doublers and tripler, respectively.



Figure 5.10: Simulated fundamental and 2^{nd} harmonic output power of a) single ended and b) balanced frequency doublers. In c) simulated 3^{rd} harmonic is also shown for the frequency tripler. Results from the center and edges of the input frequency band are shown across an input power range of -5 dBm to 15 dBm for the doublers and -5 dBm to 25 dBm for the tripler.

5.4 **Results and Analysis**

Measured results of the single-ended doubler show a maximum 2^{nd} harmonic output power of 11.5 dBm at an input power of 10 dBm at 81.5 GHz. The balanced doubler achieves a maximum 2^{nd} harmonic power of 13.79 dBm at the same input power. Frequency multiplication (conversion) gain for the doublers is defined



Figure 5.11: Photograph of the MMIC doublers for (a) single ended circuit with bond wires and off-chip capacitors and (b) balanced doubler circuit.

as:

$$G_{c} = \frac{P_{out}(2f_{0})}{P_{in}(f_{0})}$$
(5.1)

where $P_{out}(2f_0)$ is the output power at the 2^{nd} harmonic and $P_{in}(f_0)$ is the fundamental input power. Both doublers achieve conversion gain. The single-ended topology has a maximum conversion gain of 1.5 dB at a 10 dBm input drive and the balanced attains 3.8 dB at the same input power. The balanced doubler measures conversion gain from 92-100 GHz with over 13.7 dBm of output power at an input of 10 dBm. The measured conversion gain of both of the doublers is shown in Fig. 5.14 (a). Fundamental suppression is calculated for both doublers based on the measured output powers of the fundamental and 2^{nd} harmonic. Fig. 5.14 (b) shows the fundamental suppression for an input power of 10 dBm across frequency. The single-ended and balanced doublers have better than 55 dBc fundamental suppression.

The measured large signal performance at the 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic of the tripler is shown in Fig. 5.15. At a drive power of 19 dBm, the balanced tripler produces a 3^{rd} harmonic output power of



Figure 5.12: Input and output match of (a) single ended doubler, (b) balanced doubler and (c) balanced tripler. All measurements are performed with the Keysight E8364C and HP 8510C network analyzers.

 10 ± 1.5 dBm across W-band, with a measured maximum 3^{rd} harmonic output power of 11.68 dBm at 105.6 GHz. Measured harmonic suppression can be calculated from Fig. 5.15 with maximum suppression of 29 and 29.5 dBm for the tripler's fundamental and second harmonic. The suppression of the harmonics lowers near the ends of the band of operation to -15 dBc and -18 at 25 GHz and 36.6 GHz, respectively. The balanced doubler demonstrated a broadband performance with over -7 dBm of measured conversion gain from 75–100 GHz compared to 77.5–87.5 GHz for the single-ended. A broadband performance is also demonstrated for the tripler circuit measuring a conversion gain of over -10.4 dBm from 75-110 GHz. The broadband performance of the balanced designs stems from the inherent harmonic cancellation in the

couplers allowing for the matching networks to be designed for a broadband match. For operation at higher input drive levels, the single-ended doubler will provide more output power as the amplifying HEMT in the circuit is driven close to saturation.

Although each of the circuits exhibit similar maximum measured power, they use different amounts of dc current. Fig. 5.16 shows the measured dc power consumed by the multipliers over their output frequency range. The single-ended doubler has a higher bias current, most of which originates from the gain stage. Biasing the balanced douber near pinch off results in a low drain current, which together with the lower drain voltage bias offers significantly lower power consumption than the single ended doubler. Since the tripler is biased near class A, it will draw a high drain current.

5.5 Chapter Summary

This work presents a single-ended frequency doubler, a balanced frequency doubler and a balanced frequency tripler implemented in the HRL T3 40 nm GaN process. The tripler measures an output power of 10 ± 1.5 dBm for an input power of 19 dBm from 75–110 GHz. Both doublers achieve conversion gain and over 11 dBm output power in the W-band frequency range. Reactive matching and cascading of a post-multiplication amplifier stage allows the single ended topology to exhibit conversion gain and high fundamental suppression. Balanced topologies implemented with broadband couplers allows high harmonic suppression with a wide-



Figure 5.13: Schematic of the large-signal test setup. The output of the HEMT is measured with the spectrum analyzer and W-band power meter separately. 2.4 mm cables are used for all the connections of the driving test equipment, while WR-10 or WR-8 waveguide is used to connect the output probe to the waveguide power meter.



Figure 5.14: (a) Measured conversion gain of both the single ended and balanced frequency doublers shown across the output frequency band at an input driver of 10 dBm. (b) Fundamental suppression for both the single-ended and balanced topology plotted over the output frequency spectrum at an input drive of 10 dBm.



Figure 5.15: Measured and simulated 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic of the balanced tripler shown over the fundamental frequency range of 25 to 36.6 GHz. All the measurements and simulation are done at an input power of 19 dBm.

band conversion gain. The W-band GaN doublers are compared to other active multipliers in the same frequency range in Table 5.2. To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first demonstration of GaN MMIC W-band doublers with conversion gain.



Figure 5.16: Measured DC power consumed by the single ended doubler, balanced doubler and balanced tripler shown over measured output frequency.

The single-ended and balanced doubler have similar performance in suppressing the fundamental. The post-amplifying HEMT along with the output matching network provide excellent fundamental suppression of over 35 dBc over the entire output band and over 50 dBc over 78 to 87 GHz. A combination of the two doubling topologies would likely achieve best conversion gain and fundamental suppression. A multiplier circuit arranged in a balanced configuration with a post-multiplication amplifier benefits from the power-combining providing increased output power and the post-amplification providing additional second harmonic power and fundamental suppression. The contributions of this chapter are reported in [89].

Туре	Technology	Ν	Output Freq	Conv. Gain
Diode	-	-	-	-
[90]	GaAs Schottky	x2	93-95 GHz (sim)	-6.5 dB
[91]	GaAs Schottky	x2	75-80 GHz	-16 dB
[92]	GaAs Schottky	x2	80-84 GHz	-4 dB
[110]	GaAs Schottky	x2	70-78 GHz	-5 dB
[93]	GaAs Schottky	x2	70-78 GHz	-5 dB
[111]	GaAs Schottky	x2	67-78 GHz	-6.6 dB
[93]	GaAs Varactor	x2	92-95 GHz	-11 dB
[95]	GaAs	x2	50-128 GHz	-12.5 dB
[112]	GaAs	x2	50-128 GHz	-12.5 dB
[94]	nMOS	x2	93-123 GHz	-34 dB
Transistor	-	-	-	-
[102]	GaAs mHEMT	x8	78-100 GHz	8.9 dB
[102]	GaAs	x12	84-101 GHz	2.5 dB
[113]	GaAs pHEMT	x2	75-88 GHz	2 dB
[100]	InP HBT	x2	83-104 GHz	-4.5 dB
[105]	GaAs pHEMT	x2	68-80 GHz	-4 dB
[105]	GaAs pHEMT	x3	69-84 GHz	-4.3 dB
[105]	GaAs pHEMT	x4	74-78 GHz	-7.5 dB
[104]	GaAs mHEMT	x4	92-96 GHz	6 dB
[114]	GaAs mHEMT	x12	77-106 GHz	3.8 dB
[106]	GaAs pHEMT	x2	85-110 GHz	3.2 dB
[103]	GaAs mHEMT	x6	78-104 GHz	6 dB
[107]	GaAs pHEMT	x2	88-99.5 GHz	-4.3 dB
[109]	GaN HEMT	x2	75-78.5 GHz	-5 dB
[101]	InP DHBT	x2	DC-86 GHz	-3 dB
[99]	CMOS	x8	84-98.4 GHz	-7.12 dB
[96]	SiGe BiCMOS	x8	100-140 GHz	15 dB
[115]	GaAs mHEMT	x8	86.4-91.2 GHz	4.5 dB
[98]	CMOS	x9	88-99.5 GHz	-5.7 dB
[97]	SiGe BiCMOS	x4	70-110 GHz	10 dB

Table 5.1: Comparison of Transistor Frequency Multipliers

Freq. (GHz)	Device Technology	$P_{in}(f_0)$ (dBm)	Max P _{out} (2f ₀) (dBm)	Conv. Gain (dB)	Max f ₀ Supp. (dBc)	P_{DC} (mW)	Year Ref.
95-108	GaAs mHEMT	n/a	1.8 dBm	n/a	15 dBc	50	2020 [125]
68-80	0.15 μ m AlGaAs/InGaAs/GaAs pHEMT	10 dBm	6 dBm	-4 dB	20 dB	n/a	2001 [105]
75-100	0.13 μ m AlGaAs/InGaAs/GaAs pHEMT	13 dBm	15 dBm	2 dBm	45 dBc	n/a	2004 [126]
92-96	130 nm GaAs mHEMT	n/a	11 dBm	6 dB (chipset)	n/a	(sim only)	2019 [104]
78-100	100 nm InAlAs/InGaAs mHEMT	n/a	-1.5 dBm	n/a	23 dBc (chipset)	280	2011 [102]
84-101	100 nm InAlAs/InGaAs mHEMT	n/a	6.9 dBm	n/a	20 dBc (chipset)	600	2011 [102]
85-110	$0.1 \mu m$ GaAs pHEMT	5 dBm	8.2 dBm	3.2 dB	37 dBc	56	2014 [106]
88-99	$0.15\mu m$ GaAs pHEMT	n/a	7.1 dBm	-4.2 dB	28 dBc	110	2019 [107]
75-78.5	100 nm AlGaN/GaN on s.i. HEMT	12 dBm	10 dBm	-5 dB	n/a	80	2011 [109]
77-86	40 nm AlGaN/GaN HEMT	10 dBm	11.5 dBm	1.5 dB	55 dBc	006	This work ⁺
86-100	40 nm AlGaN/GaN HEMT	10 dBm	13.8 dBm	3.8 dB	55 dBc	500	This work*
Cincle of							

Multipliers
Frequency
an HEMT
JaAs and C
f W-band C
comparison o
Table 5.2: C

⁺ Single ended topology ^{*} Balanced Topology

Chapter 6

INTEGRATED T/R HALF-DUPLEX W-band GaN MMIC

CONTENTS

6.1	Background	76
6.2	W-band switched T/R module	76
6.3	Measurement Setup and Results	83
6.4	Chapter Summary	87

Individual MMIC components generally serve one purpose and have limited functionality on their own. Millimeter-wave systems require multiple connected circuits to achieve transmit and receive operation. The inter-connects between these circuits may be realized in different levels from fully packaged waveguide ports to inter-MMIC wire bonds or flip chip all the way down to on-chip integration. Integrating multiple circuits on a single MMIC holds several advantages including smaller footprint and eliminating lossy interconnects. This chapter covers the integration of the various active and passive circuits discussed in the previous sections in to an on-chip switched T/R front end.

6.1 BACKGROUND

Typically, front end T/R modules are assembled from several separate LNA, PA, SPDT switch chips as shown for example in GaAs at W-band [127], requiring multi-chip packaging. Generally, silicon processes have demonstrated higher integration levels with lower output powers. For example, a fully-integrated 77 GHz automotive radar in 65-nm CMOS demonstrated 6.4 dBm of output power and 23 dB of small signal gain on the receive path with a noise figure (NF) of 14.8 dB [128]. In [129], using 90-nm standard CMOS, a 77 GHz automotive radar with 6.3 dBm output power and an LNA with NF = 6.8 dB is shown. A SiGe HBT single-chip receiver was demonstrated over 75-100 GHz with a conversion gain of 6 dB and NF = 10 dB [15]. GaAs single-chip front ends have existed at W-band since the 1990s [130], [131]. An InP T/R chip fabricated in a 0.8- μ m InP-DHBT technology showed a switch that compressed at 15 dBm and with the transmit PA with 16 dBm saturated output power at 18% efficiency, while the receive LNA showed 30 dB gain with NF <9 dB [14]. Several front end MMICs in V and W-band have been realized in GaN: a 71-77 GHz T/R MMIC with a saturated output power of 30.6–31.5 dBm and NF = 4.7–5.5 dB with 18–20 dB receive gain is demonstrated in [13]; and W-band heterodyne receivers fabricated in a 60-nm GaN-on-Si process are presented in [12]. Figure 6.1 summarizes these published integrated front ends.

Recently, there has been increasing interest in STAR or true full duplex, but this is still an area of active research (cite kens book). Current T/R front ends use freuquecy separation when simultaneously transmitting and receiving (eq. in cellular or sattalite) or time domain separation with half-duplex switching between T/R. The former does not use the spectrum efficiently and needs expensive diplexers. The latter is useful in radar as were in comms but limits capacity. At W-band the absolute BW is large, so TDM can still have high data through-put. The reward of this chapter discusses single-chip t/r (half-duplex) front end.

6.2 W-band switched T/R module

A single-chip transmit-receive (T/R) front end covering (70-110) GHz is implemented. The transmit path consists of the balanced power amplifier and the single-HEMT driver presented in Chapter 2. The receive



Figure 6.1: Published W-band front ends in (a) W-band heterodyne receiver MMIC in a 60 nm GaN-on-Si process (OMMIC). NR of 4.4-5.5 dB at 90-95 GHz with s 0-7.4 dB/0-6.4 dB at 75-91 GHz when the LO/2 power is 20.5 dBm (IF=5 GHz/2 GHz) $3.68 \times 1.19 \text{ mm}^2$ [12] (b) 71-77 GHz switched on chip front end implemented in a 130 nm 18 V drain bias Gan on SiC process. 4.3 x 2.5mm² footprint noise figure >5.5 dB >1 W output power [13] (c) W-band switched front end in 80 nm InP-DHBT process. 16 dBm saturated output power at 90 GHz. >9 dB of NF with >30 dB small signal gain from 75-110 GHz. 2.5x1.5mm² [14] (d) Entire radar receiver front end integrated in a 90 nm SiGe process (Global Foundries SiGe 9HP) 75-110 GHz 10 dBm NF 6 dB conversion gain 2.2x1.4mm² [15].



Figure 6.2: Block diagram of the switch T/R front-end with labled individual components.

path consists of the three stage low-noise amplifier also discussed in Chapter 2. The SPDT single-HEMT shunt switch from Chapter 3 selects either the transmit or receive paths creating the half-duplex operation. A circuit schematic diagram of the front end is shown in Fig 6.2.

6.2.1 INTEGRATED SPDT SWITCH DESIGN

The single-pole double-through (SPDT) switch between transmit and receive paths is a quarter-wave shunt topology, chosen for a good tradeoff in insertion loss and isolation. In contrast, a single-shunt switch has lower isolation, while a double shunt topology has higher insertion loss [79]. The SPDT switch integrated into the T/R MMIC is discussed in detail in Chapter 3 and is designed at a center frequency of 92 GHz. When the switch HEMT is biased to conduct, the resulting short is transformed to an open through a quarter-wave transmission line thus creating the OFF-state of the switch. Turning on the switch path requires fully pinching off the shunt HEMT, thereby eliminating the shorted signal path. The HEMT then acts as a capacitor loading the line and is compensated for with inductive stubs at the drain of the device which also provides a ground path.

The switch demonstrated in Chapter 3 is slightly modified for connection between transmit and receive paths. Figure 6.3(a) shows the separate SPDT switch circuit with GSG probe pads on each port used to measure the performance prior to including it in the T/R MMIC design. Shown in Fig. 6.3(b) is the modified switch implemented in the presented front end. A comparison of the simulated performance between the



Figure 6.3: Layout of (a) SPDT switch with GSG pads from (cite switch paper) and (b) modified layout of SPDT switch used for FE MMIC. Below plots of the (a) SPDT on and off state S21 measured and simulated S parameters and measured output power handling are shown in the top and bottom plots respectively.

two switches is shown in the two plots in Fig. 6.3. In the modified version, the transmit and receive ports are bent to fit with the rest of the circuit in Fig. 6.2. The slight degradation in performance can be attributed to the longer lengths of line de-tuning the match and causing more loss at the higher end of the band.

6.2.2 INTEGRATED POWER AMPLIFIER

To maximize output power and gain, the three-stage balanced amplifier topology is driven with the single-HEMT driver, both individually discussed in Chapter 2. These cascaded power amplifiers compose the transmit power amplifier. The balanced topology is resilient to changes in input and output load impedance which can occur in, e.g., phased array antennas as the beam is scanned. The driver stage aids in saturating



Figure 6.4: Simulated output power, gain and PAE of the single-HEMT driver plotted over an input power of 0-25 dBm for three different frequency points corresponding to the middle and edges of the oeprating band: 75, 92 and 105 GHz.

the balanced power amplifier, which requires 3 dB more input power than the single-ended branch PA. The addition of a driver also reduces the input power requirements facilitating measurements and integration.

The separate multi-stage balanced power amplifier is validated prior to integration in the T/R MMIC as described in detail in Chapter 2. Briefly, two three-stage amplifiers with a 1:2:3 staging ratio are power combined using two Lange couplers. To achieve this staging ratio two HEMT devices sizes are used: $4\times25 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $4\times37.5 \,\mu\text{m}$. The third stage combines two $4\times37.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ HEMTs with a quiescent drain current of 60 mA. The highest measured output power is 26.7 dBm at 77 GHz, and the peak power added efficiency (PAE) around 14.8 % at 95 GHz.

To fully compress the balanced PA and reach peak power, a driver amplifier is integrated on chip. Designing the driver power amplifier requires several considerations. First, the output of the amplifier must be well matched to the 50- Ω input impedance of the balanced PA. At the input, the driver PA needs to handle reflections from the input connection. Since the balanced PA covers all of W-band, the driver should have a minimum bandwidth equal to the balanced PA with sufficient gain. In order to simplify biasing of the entire transmit side of the T/R MMIC, the driver is biased at the same gate and drain voltage as the balanced PA.

Designing the driver power amplifier requires several considerations. First the output of the amplifier must be well matched to 50Ω as that is the input impedance of the balanced PA. The driver PA is directly connected to a transition in a module or system and thus should also be able to handle reflections occurring



Figure 6.5: Simulated S-parameter and noise figure performance of the receive LNA shown for two cases: with and without the SPDT shunt HEMT switch connected to the input.

from those connections. Since the balanced PA covers all of W-band, the driver will have to be equally as wide-band. In order to simplify biasing of the entire transmit side of the FE, the driver should be biased at the same gate and drain voltage as the balanced PA.

6.2.3 INTEGRATED LNA DESIGN

The individual LNA in the front end is discussed in detail in Chapter 2 but will be briefly summarized here for context. Biasing at 0 V on the gate and 6 V on the drain of the HEMT corresponds to a quiescent drain current of 12 mA. This bias is chosen to maximise gain while adding the lowest noise possible. Similarly to the case of the driver PA on the transmit side, the biasing of all of the stages of the LNA are kept to the same bias to facilitate external biasing in a module or system.

Since both the input of the LNA and switch ports are designed to be 50 Ohms, the circuits are directly connected on-chip. Simulations of the LNA with and without the switch connected to the input are shown in fig. 6.5 and show the degradation of performance when the switch is attached to the LNA input. Loss before the LNA amplification begins will directly increase the noise of the receive path but is unavoidable in this front end architecture.



Figure 6.6: Loop gain stability analysis shown for each individual 2x25 um HEMTs of the three stage LNA with a layout of the LNA connected to the SPDT HEMT switch. The traces shown indicate the worse case input and output impedance of the three-stage LNA. The red X denotes the point of instability.

6.2.4 STABILITY OF COMBINED ACTIVE CIRCUITS

With several active circuits consisting of many HEMT devices operating at millimeter-waves, stability must be carefully analyzed for each individual HEMT starting from dc up to and past the cutoff frequency. Since the active circuits are all connected through a switch, possible reflections can occur between the T and R paths. For this reason, careful stability analysis is done across a wide range of impedances and bias conditions. For example, the SPDT switch is not an active device, but does operate with a biased HEMT and therefore could present variable impedances to both the transmitting PA and receiving LNA.

Loop-gain and Nyquist stability analysis are conducted throughout the design (from linear elements to full-wave EM). The loop-gain analysis of the LNA is shown in Fig. 6.6 for each of the three stages with a layout diagram of the circuit for reference. Even though these devices do not have gain past the second harmonic, stability is considered from 0 to 330 GHz, or the third harmonic of the highest in-band frequency component. Stable operation is shown across this range as denoted by the red X.

Since the balanced amplifier stability has already been considered for a range of input and output

impedances [9], the driver stability is emphasized in the integrated design. Off-chip capacitors and bondwire connections are modeled both as linear circuit elements, as well as full 3D EM structures, and these models then used in stability simulations. Custom linearized HEMT models of the $2\times25\,\mu$ m, $4\times25\,\mu$ m and $4\times37.5\,\mu$ m HEMTs are extracted at the design bias and drive levels from available foundry Angelov models. These linear models allow process variations to be taken into account by varying the HEMT transconductance ($\pm30\%$), drain-to-source capacitance ($\pm30\%$) and gate-to-drain capacitance ($\pm30\%$). This step ensures that even with the largest possible process variations, the amplifiers remain stable. All active HEMTs in the amplifiers have a phase margin of greater than 60° in each of their loop-gain simulations across swept input and output port impedances.

6.3 Measurement Setup and Results

The MMIC characterization is conducted on-wafer. Both small-signal and scalar large-signal measurements are performed with a Summit 9000 probe station, while noise measurements are conducted on a separate probing setup described below.

6.3.1 SMALL-SIGNAL CHRACTERIZATION

An HP8510C VNA with V- and W- band frequency extenders is used for on-wafer small-signal measurements. Two 100 μ m GSG probes bring the measurement plane from the frequency extenders to the DUT. Calibration up to the plane of the DUT is done using a W-band impedance standard substrate (ISS) from Cascade Microtech. The front end MMIC is then measured in both transmit and receive operation. Both sides are biased through an off-chip bias network ladder composing of several MIM capacitors connected through bond wires. Measurement results compared to simulations are shown in Fig. 6.7 for the transmit path and in Fig. 6.8 for the receive path. Note the measurement discontinuity at 75 GHz arising from two different wave-guide band measurements.

For the transmit path, the peak small-signal gain is 25 dB at 75 GHz sloping down to 19 dB at 108 GHz. The receive path shows a peak small-signal gain of 22 dB at 77 GHz with over 16 dB gain from 70–105 GHz.



Figure 6.7: Measured and simulated S-parameter performance of the front end transmit path across 50–110 GHz when all stages of the balanced amplifier and driver stage are biased at $V_g = 0.25$ V and $V_d = 12$ V with a resulting total drain current of 250 mA. The switch in the transmit path is turned on with the HEMT gate biased at -10 V while the other switch path is turned off at a HEMT gate bias of 0 V



Figure 6.8: Measured and simulated S-parameter performance of the front end transmit path from 50–110 GHz when all the stages of the LNA are biased at $V_g = -0.6$ V and $V_d = 6$ V with a resulting total $I_d = 47$ mA. The SPDT switch on the receive path is fully turned on with a -10 V control voltage and the other SPDT switch path is turned off at 0 V.

The measured and simulated $|S_{21}|$ agree within 1.5 dB across the entire W-band. The simulated and measured results in the transmit path deviate more, especially below 70 GHz, since this path was designed for best large-signal gain.

6.3.2 Noise Figure Measurements

On-wafer 50 Ω noise figure (NF) measurements were collected on the LNA using a custom scalar NF test bench. The MMICs are probed on an MPI TS200 probe station with GGB WR-10 100 μ m pitch probes. A QuinStar WR-10 noise diode is connected to the input RF probe through a 90° WR-10 bend, and the output RF probe is connected to a noise receive chain through a WR-10 S-bend. The noise receive chain is comprised of a commercial LNA, a mixer down converter, a local oscillator (LO) up-converter with a commercial 6× frequency multiplier, and an Agilent E4448A spectrum analyzer with noise figure measurement application. The LO is driven by a Keysight MXG N5183B signal generator. The NF measurements are calibrated to the WR-10 noise diode / WR-10 receive chain reference planes by directly connecting the components and calibrating with the proper noise diode excess noise ratio. Then, the cascaded NF measurement of the input fixture, LNA, and output fixture are measured. Finally, the NF of the LNA is determined by Friis formula with the transducer gain and NF of the fixtures calculated from their respective S-parameter measurements, while the transducer gain of the LNA is calculated from a calibrated S-parameter measurement. The Sparameters of the WR-10 probes are determined with a two-tier calibration. This approach neglects the impedance mismatches between the different reference planes in the cascaded DUT, which is a reasonable approximation for a matched MMIC. A photo of the on-wafer NF measurement test bench is reported in Fig. 6.9.

Due to the setup mentioned above, only measurements at 80, 85, 90, 95, 100 and 105 GHz are conducted. The measured NF is higher than predicted by the model, shown in Fig. 6.5. Measured NF of the receive path are shown on Fig. 6.10 along with de-embedded NF of the LNA alone, based on measured switch loss from [16]. The measurements show a minimum NF of 5.2 dB at 80 GHz and a peak NF of 7.8 dB at 100 GHz. These results are consistent with measured noise parameter data of individual millimeter-wave GaN HEMTs [72].



Figure 6.9: On-wafer NF measurement test bench used to characterize the W-band MMIC receive path.



Figure 6.10: Measured NF of front end receive chain plotted over frequency shown along with a de-embedded NF of the LNA without the switch using measured results from [16].

6.3.3 LARGE-SIGNAL CHARACTERIZATION

On-wafer large signal measurements are conducted with a power-calibrated scalar test bench. To reach up to 20 dBm of power at the DUT, a custom W-band solid-state PA is driven by a QPI-W01820-H4W02 W-band power amplifier. Isolators are used between the solid-state amplifiers for protection, but add ~ 1.5 dB of loss. An HP83650A sweeper generates a 25-36.6 GHz CW signal. After this, a Ka-band QPW-18402020-J0 power-amplifier drives a passive QPM-93003W diode tripler followed by a QFL-B4SW00 low-pass filter to provide an up-converted 75–110 GHz CW signal to the W-band test-bench power-amplifiers.

The W-band test-bench amplifiers are connected to the 100 μ m input GSG probe through several standard

straight waveguide sections and a 20 dB WiseWave coupler. On the output of the DUT, a 20 dB coupler, terminated wave-guide attenuator and the WR-10 GSG probe complete the scalar measurement setup. Wband power meters attached to both 20-dB couplers are used to measure and calibrate the large-signal setup, using VNA-measured losses of all the passive interconnecting components.

Two separate large signal measurements are conducted on the transmit branch of the MMIC. The custom solid-state PA operates in the 90–95 GHz band and is used to conduct single frequency power sweeps at 92 GHz providing 0 to 20 dBm at the plane of the DUT. The QPI-W01820-H4W02 W-band power amplifier operates from 75-110 GHz and is used to measure large-signal performance across the entire W-band at a power of 9 dBm at the DUT.

An output power of >29 dBm at 75 GHz gently sloping down to 24 dBm at 108 GHz is measured at an input power of 9 dBm. These results along with the large-signal gain of the transmit side are shown in Fig. 6.11(a) along with simulated results. The measurement of the 0–20 dBm power sweep at 92 GHz is shown in Fig. 6.11(b).

The measured current draw of the transmit path is plotted over frequency in Fig. 6.12 and compared to simulation. Over 75–110 GHz, the dc drain current ranges between 580 and 650 mA. Since the bias point is fixed to a single drain and gate voltage for the entire transmit path, each of the PA stages may not compress to the optimal level. This results in some disagreement between simulation and measurement.

6.4 Chapter Summary

In summary, the integration of a power amplifier with a driver, SPDT switch and LNA is demonstrated on a single GaN-on-SiC 5 mm×3 mm die that operates over the entire W band (75–110 GHz). The transmit path consists of a three-stage power combined balanced amplifier with a single-HEMT driver. An SPDT switch using a quarter-wave shunt HEMT topology is used as the connection between the antenna port and the PA output and 29 dBm of output power is measured at the output of the switch at the 92 GHz center of the band. Including the switch loss, the receive path with a 3-stage LNA demonstrates a noise figure that ranges from 5.2–7.8 dB across the band, with 15–22 dB gain. The switch does not show compression at peak PA output



Figure 6.11: (a) Measured and simulated output power and power gain of the front end transmit path at an input power of 9 dBm. (b) Measured output power compared to simulation of the MMIC at 92 GHz with 0-20 dBm input drive.



Figure 6.12: Measured compared to simulated DC current draw of the large signal measurement over frequency of the transmit branch of the front end. Data taken from same measurement as Fig 6.11.

power. The results from this Chapter are reported in [73], [16], [75] and [74].

The demonstrated performance is suitable for use in communications, radar and sensing. For such applications, the presented front end chip T/R module can also be assembled heterogeneously with other technologies to complete the MMIC into a fully packaged module (MECA) [132]. For phased array applications, integration with phase shifters such as [133] can also be accomplished monolithically. Future work includes packaging the MMIC into a wave-guide module with antennas. Additionally, characterization of with modulated signals.

Chapter 7

FUTURE WORK AND SUMMARY

CONTENTS

7.1	Future Work	89
7.2	Summary of Contributions	97

This thesis begins at the individual GaN HEMT level and demonstrates control circuits, frequency multipliers, LNAs, and power amplifiers at millimeter waves frequencies up to 110 GHz. A balanced PA with a single-HEMT driver is then integrated with a SPDT switch and LNA to create a single-chip T/R front end. Directions for future work from here include MMIC design of other front end components which were not covered such as oscillators, limiters, mixers and more integrated GaN MMIC circuits such as a radiometer or full duplex front end. Packaging of the designed MMIC chips is an area which has been explored but still needs to be expanded upon.

7.1 FUTURE WORK

Out of the 10 multi-project wafer (MPW) runs in the DARPA GaN Maturization program, that supported this thesis work, many circuits are left to be measured and integrated in future designs. MMICs that have been designed but not yet fully characterized are summarized below. MMICs must also interface with other

components in a system meaning that packaging is a necessary aspect of MMIC design. At millimeter waves, particularly above 50 GHz, a significant amount of package interface come in the form of wave-guide flanges. Directions for continuation of this work is detailed in several subsections below.

7.1.1 MMIC TO WAVEGUIDE TRANSITION

Packaging MMICs at millimeter waves requires transitioning the propagating wave from a microstrip quasi-TEM wave to a TE₁₀ mode in a rectangular waveguide. Transitioning from a microstrip or CPW environment on-chip to a waveguide environment can be accomplished through several different methods. Many of these methods involve a transition probe printed on a microwave substrate or incorporated into the MMIC chip itself. This probe shapes the fields in a certain way in the metal confinement of the waveguide to propagate the wave with the lowest loss and least amount of reflections from the interface. A MMIC-to-waveguide transition is designed and fabrication of the probe is attempted. Figure 7.1 shows the design in a full wave EM simulator (HFSS) along with the simulated S-parameters from the microstrip port to the waveguide port. The design is created by depositing >1 μ m of gold on the front- and back-side of the 100 μ m thick Si04 (fused silica) substrate.



Figure 7.1: Simulation setup of the MMIC-to-waveguide transition using 100μ m thick Si04 (left). The S parameter HFSS simulation from the labeled port (right).

The design shown in Figure 7.1 is the best case design considered if fabrication of the transition turns out perfectly. Incorporating tolerances from the fabrication and assembly processes involved is necessary to assess the resilience of the design to possible parameter changes. Important considered design parameters
from tolerances arising from fabrication, sub-dicing and metal machining include:

- Sawstreet dicing margin: $200-150 \,\mu\text{m}$
- Metal Deposition margin: +/- $1 \mu m$
- Bond wire variations (length and height): $2-3 \,\mu m$
- Metal machining margin: $200-400 \,\mu\text{m}$
- Spacing between MMIC and transition $30-70 \,\mu m$

Sweeping these variables leads to a tolerance study shown in Fig. 7.2. The simple design of the transition itself leads to a robust design resilient to possible variations in fabrication and assembly. Bond wire variations account for the most change in performance and is also the hardest parameter to control if done by hand.



Figure 7.2: Tolerance study of the MMIC-to-waveguide transition from 7.1 showing variation of metal deposition, wafer sub-dicing, spacing between transition and metal encasing and metal machining of the WG cavity and feed.

For manufacturing, the MMIC-to-waveguide transition is tiled on a 3 inch wafer using CAD software, Fig 7.3. The design is then sent in to an experimental university foundry to be metalized. During the metalization process, the thin brittle wafer was cracked in several places. The deposited metal came out nonuniform as can be seen in Fig 7.4. As a result, measurements and further work were not possible. Directions for continuation of this work include choosing a different or thicker substrate and a change in the fabrication considerations and limits. Note that changing the substrate or the thickness of the substrate will require a redesign or significant modification of the current design.



Figure 7.3: MMIC to waveguide transition wafer run CAD drawing and fabricated wafer which was cracked during processing.



Figure 7.4: MMIC to waveguide transition wafer run top and backside metalization defects.

7.1.2 Split Block MMIC Packaging

At millimeter waves, waveguides provide the lowest loss environment and offer a standardized connection widely adopted in practice. Packaging of GaN circuits for W-band has been initiated for the front-end MMIC discussed in Chapter 6. The split block design can be seen in Fig 7.5 along with off-chip MIM caps next to

the bare die for stability and the dc biasing PCB. The design takes into account the mechanical tolerances from the available machine shops as well as from the dicing process of the MMIC-to-waveguide transition. Continuation of this work will involve tuning the design for new MMIC-to-waveguide transitions and the fabrication of the split-block package itself.



Figure 7.5: Split block package design of front end MMIC from Chapter 6 showing MMIC die, dowell pin, off-chip MIM capacitors, PCB biasing board and screw holes.

7.1.3 BIASING PCB FOR PACKAGED MMIC

To properly bias all the active components involved in the front end, a PCB with a PIN-header connection is designed to interface between the MMIC bare die and the dc power supply. The board is designed using CAD software and since the board is designed for dc, the PCB substrate was chosen based on price as RF performance is not necessary. The design of the board is done in parallel with the split-block enclosure in order to ensure all components fit into place. The layout of the board is shown in Fig. 7.6 along with a 3D view of the populated PCB. The PCB was designed to work for both the transmitting and receiving side of the front end MMIC. The PCB remains to be fabricated, populated and validated through measurements.



Figure 7.6: PCB Layout of the dc biasing board for the split block enclosure shown in Fig 7.5 and 3D view of the populated board.

7.1.4 Limiters

Used to protect the receiver in RF and microwave systems, a limiter is a control circuit which allows signals below a certain power level to pass through with low loss and attenuate the signals above a threshold power level. In particular, the limiter is commonly used to protect LNAs in radar as incoming pulses could damage the LNA which can only handle up to a certain amount of input power. Solid state limiters are often realized using diodes (Pin, varactor or Schottky) or transistors (amplifiers or switches). Amplifiers are inherently limiters as they saturate at a certain input power level and will reach a point where they do not output anymore power even as the input power increases.



Figure 7.7: Plot representing the ideal and real or practical responce of a millimeter wave limiter circuit (Left). Circuit example of a MMIC HEMT limiter (Right) [10].

Shown in Fig. 7.7 is the ideal characteristics of a limiter as well as a more realistic performance adjustment. Also shown is an example of a possible MMIC circuit limiter topology. Using a HEMT to design a limitor is done by placing the HEMT in shunt with a matching line (50 Ω) and connecting the gate bias in such a way that the device turns on as the input power increases. At the threshold power level when the device has fully turned on, the input power will begin to reflect back and less power will flow through the circuit. Demonstration of this type of circuit remains to be shown in HRL T3 GaN at W-band.

7.1.5 GAN HEMT OSCILLATORS AND VCOS

Frequency generation is also explored in this research using GaN HEMTs. An oscillator circuit designed in the HRL T3 process at 44 GHz is shown with a measured spectrum in Fig 7.8 from [75]. Integration with frequency multipliers is a pathway to creating high power mmillimeter wave sources using GaN technology. Continuation of this work includes design of VCOs in single HEMT as well as other circuit topologies to be integrated into future front end MMICs.



Figure 7.8: Fixed oscillator using a $4 \times 37.5 \,\mu$ m HEMT at a 12 V drain bias. The gate of the device is shorted to ground through a resistor. Measured results using a HP8565E spectrum analyzer are shown: (a) power spectrum of the oscillator and (b) calculated associated phase noise.

7.1.6 GAN HEMT MIXERS

Mixers are a frequency conversion component which can also be implemented in GaN HEMTs. This is demonstrated with a resistive HEMT design covering 75-110 GHz. Figure 7.9 shows a single-HEMT GaN mixer that was designed in HRL T3. This MMIC has not been measured or characterized. Continuation of this work involves large signal measurements and integration with other components such as oscillators to form heterodyne receivers.



Figure 7.9: Schematic representation of a mixer with labeled ports (a) and a photograph of the fabricated single HEMT mixer (b).

7.1.7 W-BAND DICKE RADIOMETER

A full 75-110 GHz Dicke switched radiometer is designed and fabricated. A SPDT switch from Chapter 3 is integrated with a three stage LNA and power detector to form the radiometer. Switching the SPDT switch between the input port and a matched 50Ω load allows the gain fluctuation calibration. The MMIC still needs to be measured and characterized. Figure 7.10 shows a photograph of the fabricated MMIC Dicke radiometer mounted on a CuMo carrier plate.



Figure 7.10: Dicke swithed radiometer designed by integrating a SPDT switch, three stage LNA and power detector. Measurements and characterization still need to be done on this MMIC.

7.2 Summary of Contributions

In summary, the work presented in this thesis covers the modeling and design in millimeter wave GaN of several important front end components and their system level integration on-chip. This section briefly summarizes the work and contributions from Chapters 2-6.

- Chapter 2: This chapter covered the modeling and design of GaN HEMT power amplifiers and LNAs. For large signal operation, a balanced three stage power-combined power amplifier and single-HEMT driver amplifier are demonstrated. For the balanced power amplifier, the third stage of both unit amplifiers combine two $4\times37.5 \,\mu$ m HEMTs with a quiescent drain current of 60 mA. The peak output power is measured to be 26.7 dBm at 77 GHz, and the peak power added efficiency (PAE) around 14.8 % at 95 GHz. A three stage LNA with a measured small-signal gain of 20-25 dB across 70-110 GHz and a minimum NF of 5.2 dB at 80 GHz and a peak NF of 7.8 dB at 100 GHz is also demonstrated. Contributions from this chapter are reported in [73], [74] and [75].
- Chapter 3: Four switches are demonstrated including a SPST, two SPDTs and a SP4T showing tradeoffs in performance based on HEMT periphery selection. None of the switches showed any signs of compression with up to 20 dBm of input power at 92 GHz with simulations indicating compression of the SPST switch occurring after 40 dBm (10W). These switches are fundamental building blocks of other components and systems including switched line phase shifters, Dicke radiometers and switched T/R front ends. Results of the switches are published in [16]. Two continuous reflective phase shifters, one 90 degree and one 180 degree, are designed and validated with measured results. lange couplers are used for both of the designs with two cascaded lange couplers being used in the 180 degree phase shifter. Large-signal measurements showed a P1 dB compression point of 19 dBm. Phased array systems and test instrumentation are possible applications of these designs. The results of the phase shifter MMICs are published in [11] and partially in [75].
- Chapter 4: This chapter covers the theoretical basis for frequency multiplication using a simplified HEMT model. Equations which aid in design and bias selection are shown and discussed. High

frequency effects are also discussed and result in reliance on computer aided computation software and Angelov foundry models. HRL T3 GaN HEMTs are then harmonically characterized for frequency multiplication using load-pull simulations. Results of load-pull simulation characterization give optimum load impedances for design of frequency doublers and triplers. The contributions of this chapter are partially presented in [89].

- Chapter 5: A single-ended frequency doubler, a balanced frequency doubler and a balanced frequency tripler implemented in the HRL T3 40 nm GaN process. The tripler measures an output power of 10±1.5 dBm for an input power of 19 dBm over 75–110 GHz. Both doublers achieve conversion gain and over 11 dBm output power in the W-band frequency range. Reactive matching and cascading of a post-multiplication amplifier stage allows the single ended topology to exhibit conversion gain and high fundamental suppression. Balanced topologies implemented with broadband couplers allows high harmonic suppression with a wide-band conversion gain. To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first demonstration of GaN MMIC W-band doublers with conversion gain. The single-ended and balanced doubler have similar performance in suppressing the fundamental suppression of over 35 dBc over the entire output band and over 50 dBc over 78 to 87 GHz. The contributions of this chapter are reported in [89].
- Chapter 6: The integration of a power amplifier with a driver, SPDT switch and LNA is demonstrated on a single GaN-on-SiC 5 mm×3 mm die that operates over the entire W band (75–110 GHz). The transmit path consists of a three-stage power combined balanced amplifier with a single-HEMT driver. An SPDT switch using a quarter-wave shunt HEMT topology is used as the connection between the antenna port and the PA output and 29 dBm of output power is measured at the output of the switch at the 92 GHz center of the band. Including the switch loss, the receive path with a 3-stage LNA demonstrates a noise figure that ranges from 5.2–7.8 dB across the band, with 15–22 dB gain. The switch does not show compression at peak PA output power. The results from this Chapter are reported in [73], [16], [75] and [74].

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- M. Klein and A. Gasiewski, "The sensitivity of millimeter and sub-millimeter frequencies to atmospheric temperature and water vapor variations," in *IGARSS '98. Sensing and Managing the Environment. 1998 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing. Symposium Proceedings.* (*Cat. No.98CH36174*), vol. 2, 1998, pp. 568–571 vol.2. ix, 2
- [2] S. Kim, J. Kim, C. Chung, and M.-H. Ka, "Derivation and validation of three-dimensional microwave imaging using a w-band mimo radar," *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, vol. 60, pp. 1–16, 2022. ix, 3, 4
- [3] S.-Y. Jeon, M.-H. Ka, S. Shin, M. Kim, S. Kim, S. Kim, J. Kim, A. Dewantari, J. Kim, and H. Chung, "W-band MIMO FMCW radar system with simultaneous transmission of orthogonal waveforms for high-resolution imaging," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 5051–5064, 2018. ix, 3, 4
- [4] Y. Wang, J. Liu, J. Ding, M. Wang, F. Zhao, and J. Yu, "Joint communication and radar sensing functions system based on photonics at the w-band," *Opt. Express*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 13404–13415, Apr 2022. [Online]. Available: https://opg.optica.org/oe/abstract.cfm?URI=oe-30-8-13404 ix, 3, 4
- [5] K. Shinohara, D. C. Regan, Y. Tang, A. L. Corrion, D. F. Brown, J. C. Wong, J. F. Robinson, H. H. Fung, A. Schmitz, T. C. Oh, S. J. Kim, P. S. Chen, R. G. Nagele, A. D. Margomenos, and M. Micovic, "Scaling of gan hemts and schottky diodes for submillimeter-wave mmic applications," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 2982–2996, 2013. ix, 7, 9, 10

- [6] J. M. Schellenberg, "A 2-W W-Band GaN traveling-wave amplifier with 25-GHz bandwidth," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 2833–2840, 2015. ix, 15
- [7] M. Cwiklinski et. al, "Full W-band GaN power amplifier MMICs using a novel type of broadband radial stub," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 5664–5675, 2018. ix, 14, 15
- [8] Q. Ge, H. Tao, W. Wang, D. Shang, and R. Liu, "A 24.2dBm full W band GaN power amplifier with about 40GHz of bandwidth," in 2021 IEEE MTT-S International Wireless Symposium (IWS), 2021, pp. 1–3. ix, 14, 15
- [9] S. Verploegh, T. Sonnenberg, M. Pinto, A. Babenko, and Z. Popović, "On-chip power combining with 3-stage 75–110 GHz GaN MMIC power amplifiers," in 2021 51st European Microwave Conference (EuMC), 2022, pp. 890–893. ix, 14, 15, 19, 83
- [10] I. J. Bahl, Control components using si, gaas, and Gan Technologies. Artech House, 2014. xii, xviii, 38, 94
- [11] A. Romano, T. Sonnenberg, S. Verploegh, T. Barton, and Z. Popovic, "A W-Band GaN MMIC continuous 90° reflective phase shifter," in 2022 IEEE 22nd Annual Wireless and Microwave Technology Conference (WAMICON), 2022, pp. 1–4. xii, 38, 39, 40, 97
- [12] R. Malmqvist, R. Jonsson, M. Bao, R. LeBlanc, K. Buisman, C. Fager, and K. Andersson, "A W-Band Single-Chip Receiver in a 60 nm GaN-on-Silicon Foundry Process," in 2021 16th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2022, pp. 51–54. xvi, 76, 77
- [13] Z. Hu, K. Ma, Y. Liu, M. He, and R. He, "A 71–77-GHz Switch-Based Single-Chip Front End in 0.13-m GaN Technology," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Technology Letters*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 1031–1034, 2023. xvi, 76, 77
- [14] M. Hossain, T. Shivan, M. Hrobak, T. Al-Sawaf, D. Stoppel, H. Yacoub, N. Weimann, W. Heinrich, and V. Krozer, "A W-Band Transceiver Chip for Future 5G Communications in InP-DHBT Technology,"

in 2020 15th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2021, pp. 193–196. xvi, 76, 77

- [15] S. Zeinolabedinzadeh, A. C. Ulusoy, F. Inanlou, H. Ying, Y. Gong, Z. E. Fleetwood, N. J.-H. Roche, A. Khachatrian, D. McMorrow, S. P. Buchner, J. H. Warner, P. Paki, and J. D. Cressler, "Single-Event Effects in a Millimeter-Wave Receiver Front-End Implemented in 90 nm, 300 GHz SiGe HBT Technology," *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 536–543, 2017. xvi, 76, 77
- [16] T. Sonnenberg, A. Romano, S. Verploegh, and Z. Popovic, "V- and W-band GaN MMIC Switches," in 2023 18th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2023. xvii, 25, 40, 85, 86, 88, 97, 98
- [17] T. Edwards, "V-band and e-band radio links are becoming important for 5g fixed wireless access and xhaul," Aug 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.microwavejournal.com/articles/40630-v-band-and-e-band-radio-links-are-becoming-important-for-5g-fixed-wireless-access-and-xhaul 3
- [18] F. Wang, J. Yu, Y. Wang, W. Li, B. Zhu, J. Ding, K. Wang, C. Liu, C. Wang, M. Kong, L. Zhao, F. Zhao, and W. Zhou, "Delivery of polarization-division-multiplexing wireless millimeter-wave signal over 4.6-km at w-band," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 40, no. 19, pp. 6339–6346, 2022. 3
- [19] F. Boes, J. Antes, T. Messinger, D. Meier, R. Henneberger, A. Tessmann, and I. Kallfass, "Multigigabit E-band wireless data transmission," in 2015 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium. IEEE, 2015, pp. 1–4. 3
- [20] M. Lucente, C. Stallo, T. Rossi, S. Mukherjee, E. Cianca, M. Ruggieri, and V. Dainelli, "Analysis and design of a point-to-point radio-link at w band for future satellite telecommunication experiments," in 2011 Aerospace Conference, 2011, pp. 1–10. 3
- [21] A. Fung, L. Samoska, P. Kangaslahti, G. Sadowy, A. Brown, S. O'Connor, and D. Gritters, "W-band gallium nitride mmic amplifiers for cloud doppler radar arrays," in 2015 40th International Conference on Infrared, Millimeter, and Terahertz waves (IRMMW-THz), 2015, pp. 1–1. 3

- [22] M. Caris, W. Johannes, S. Sieger, V. Port, and S. Stanko, "Detection of small uas with w-band radar," in 2017 18th International Radar Symposium (IRS), 2017, pp. 1–6. 3
- [23] H. Cheng, S. Li, H. Zheng, H. Jing, and H. Sun, "A W-band auto-focus holographic imaging system for security screening," *IEICE Electronics Express*, vol. 14, no. 11, pp. 20170347–20170347, 2017.
 3
- [24] U. Alkus, A. B. Sahin, and H. Altan, "Stand-off through-the-wall w-band millimeter-wave imaging using compressive sensing," *IEEE Geoscience And Remote Sensing Letters*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1025– 1029, 2018. 3
- [25] R. H. Geschke, O. Arpe, R. Brauns, and C. Krebs, "Enhanced hidden object detection with a circularly polarized w-band imaging radar system," in 2018 15th European Radar Conference (EuRAD). IEEE, 2018, pp. 237–240. 3
- [26] F. Nsengiyumva, C. Migliaccio, L. Brochier, J.-Y. Dauvignac, I. Aliferis, and C. Pichot, "New w-band scattering measurement system: Proof of concept and results for 2-D objects," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 7224–7236, 2018. 3
- [27] M. Kishida, K. Ohguchi, and M. Shono, "79 GHz-band high-resolution millimeter-wave radar," *Fujitsu Sci. Tech. J*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 55–59, 2015. 3
- [28] C. Riva, C. Capsoni, L. Luini, M. Luccini, R. Nebuloni, and A. Martellucci, "The challenge of using the W band in satellite communication," *International Journal of Satellite Communications and Networking*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 187–200, 2014. 3
- [29] H. J. Liebe, T. Manabe, and G. A. Hufford, "Millimeter-wave attenuation and delay rates due to fog/cloud conditions," *IEEE transactions on antennas and propagation*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1617– 1612, 1989. 3

- [30] K. Brown, A. Brown, T. Feenstra, D. Gritters, S. O'Connor, M. Sotelo, N. Kolias, K. C. Hwang, J. Kotce, and E. Robinson, "7kw gan w-band transmitter," in 2016 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2016, pp. 1–3. 3
- [31] E. W. Bryerton, M. Morgan, and M. W. Pospieszalski, "Ultra low noise cryogenic amplifiers for radio astronomy," in 2013 IEEE Radio and Wireless Symposium, 2013, pp. 358–360. 4
- [32] J. W. May and G. M. Rebeiz, "Design and characterization of *w*-band sige rfics for passive millimeterwave imaging," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 1420– 1430, 2010. 5
- [33] FCC, "Federal communications commission office of engineering and technology bulletin number 70 millimeter wave propagation: Spectrum management implications," 1997. [Online]. Available: https://transition.fcc.gov/Bureaus/Engineering_Technology/Documents/bulletins/oet70/oet70a.pdf 5
- [34] S. De Fina, M. Ruggieri, and A. Bosisio, "Exploitation of the w-band for high capacity satellite communications," *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 82–93, 2003. 5
- [35] S. Wienecke, B. Romanczyk, M. Guidry, H. Li, E. Ahmadi, K. Hestroffer, X. Zheng, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "N-polar gan cap mishemt with record power density exceeding 6.5 w/mm at 94 ghz," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 359–362, 2017. 6
- [36] J. M. Schellenberg, "A 2-w w-band gan traveling-wave amplifier with 25-ghz bandwidth," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 2833–2840, 2015. 6, 13, 14
- [37] A. Inoue, "Millimeter-wave gan devices for 5g: Massive mimo antenna arrays for sub-6-ghz and mm-wave bandwidth," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 100–110, 2021. 6
- [38] S. S. M. Roberg, S. Chen, "Qorvo millimeter wave GaN MMIC processes, circuits and integration technology," *European Microwave Week*, vol. Workshop on mm-wave GaN MMICs, 2022. 8

- [39] D. Denninghoff, "High-efficiency GaN MMIC technologies for W-band applications and beyond," *European Microwave Week*, vol. Workshop on mm-wave GaN MMICs, 2022. 8
- [40] F. Thome, E. Ture, P. Brückner, R. Quay, and O. Ambacher, "W-band SPDT switches in planar and tri-gate 100-nm gate-length GaN-HEMT technology," in 2018 11th German Microwave Conference (GeMiC), 2018, pp. 331–334. 8, 28, 29, 30
- [41] M. Rocchi, "100,60 and 40 nm GaN/Si power amplifiers to complement si solutions for 5G and 6G applications," *European Microwave Week*, vol. Workshop on mm-wave GaN MMICs, 2022. 8
- [42] Y. Cao, V. Kumar, S. Chen, Y. Cui, S. Yoon, E. Beam, A. Xie, J. Jimenez, A. Ketterson, C. Lee, D. Linkhart, and A. Geiler, "Qorvo's emerging gan technologies for mmwave applications," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 570–572. 9
- [43] X. Tong, R. Wang, S. Zhang, J. Xu, P. Zheng, and F.-X. Chen, "Degradation of ka-band gan lna under high-input power stress: Experimental and theoretical insights," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 5091–5096, 2019. 9
- [44] R. Malmqvist, R. Jonsson, A. Bernland, M. Bao, R. LeBlanc, K. Buisman, C. Fager, and K. Andersson,
 "E/w-band cpw-based amplifier mmics fabricated in a 60 nm gan-on-silicon foundry process," in 2020
 15th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2021, pp. 137–140. 9
- [45] Y. Niida, Y. Kamada, T. Ohki, S. Ozaki, K. Makiyama, Y. Minoura, N. Okamoto, M. Sato, K. Joshin, and K. Watanabe, "3.6 w/mm high power density w-band inalgan/gan hemt mmic power amplifier," in 2016 IEEE Topical Conference on Power Amplifiers for Wireless and Radio Applications (PAWR), 2016, pp. 24–26. 9
- [46] P. Neininger, M. Mikulla, P. Döring, M. Dammann, F. Thome, S. Krause, D. Schwantuschke,
 P. Brückner, C. Friesicke, and R. Quay, "Advances in gan devices and circuits at higher mm-wave frequencies," *e-Prime Advances in Electrical Engineering, Electronics and Energy*, vol. 4, p. 100177, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2772671123000724 9

- [47] M. Ćwikliński, P. Brückner, S. Leone, C. Friesicke, H. Maßler, R. Lozar, S. Wagner, R. Quay, and
 O. Ambacher, "D-band and g-band high-performance gan power amplifier mmics," *IEEE Transactions* on *Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 67, no. 12, pp. 5080–5089, 2019. 9
- [48] F. Thome, P. Brückner, S. Leone, and R. Quay, "A w/f-band low-noise power amplifier gan mmic with 3.5-5.5-db noise figure and 22.8-24.3-dbm pout," in 2022 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium - IMS 2022, 2022, pp. 603–606. 9
- [49] [Online]. Available: https://www.baesystems.com/en/product/foundry-services 9
- [50] J. Kamioka, Y. Tarui, Y. Kamo, and S. Shinjo, "54power amplifier with individual source via structure," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 30, no. 12, pp. 1149–1152, 2020. 9
- [51] A. Fung, L. Samoska, P. Kangaslahti, R. Lin, I. Mehdi, G. Sadowy, S. Tanelli, D. Esteban-Fernandez,
 A. Peralta, M. Soria, A. Brown, D. Gritters, S. O'Connor, and S. Lardizabal, "Gallium nitride amplifiers beyond w-band," in 2018 IEEE Radio and Wireless Symposium (RWS), 2018, pp. 150–153.
 9
- [52] K. Matsushita, C.-Y. Chan, J.-H. Lin, S.-W. Peng, H.-K. Lo, Y.-S. Lin, and C.-K. Lin, "Performance improvement and layout design comparison of algan/gan hemt for ka- q- and v-band applications," in 2022 IEEE BiCMOS and Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuits and Technology Symposium (BCICTS), 2022, pp. 94–98. 9
- [53] [Online]. Available: https://www.northropgrumman.com/what-we-do/microelectronics-space-park/
- [54] H. W. Then, M. Radosavljevic, P. Koirala, N. Thomas, N. Nair, I. Ban, T. Talukdar, P. Nordeen, S. Ghosh, S. Bader, T. Hoff, T. Michaelos, R. Nahm, M. Beumer, N. Desai, P. Wallace, V. Hadagali, H. Vora, A. Oni, X. Weng, K. Joshi, I. Meric, C. Nieva, S. Rami, and P. Fischer, "Advanced scaling of enhancement mode high-k gallium nitride-on-300mm-si(111) transistor and 3d layer transfer gansilicon finfet cmos integration," in *2021 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2021, pp. 11.1.1–11.1.4. 9

- [55] H. W. Then, M. Radosavljevic, P. Koirala, M. Beumer, S. Bader, A. Zubair, T. Hoff, R. Jordan, T. Michaelos, J. Peck, I. Ban, N. Nair, H. Vora, K. Joshi, I. Meric, A. Oni, N. Desai, H. Krishnamurthy, K. Ravichandran, J. Yu, S. Beach, D. Frolov, A. Hubert, A. Latorre-Rey, S. Rami, J. Rangaswamy, Q. Yu, and P. Fischer, "Scaled submicron field-plated enhancement mode high-k gallium nitride transistors on 300mm si(111) wafer with power fom (ron xqgg) of 3.1 mohm-nc at 40v and ft/fmax of 130/680ghz," in 2022 International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2022, pp. 35.1.1–35.1.4. 9
- [56] S. K. Dubey and A. Islam, "Effect of source, drain and channel spacing from gate of hemt," in *Energy Systems, Drives and Automations*, A. Sikander, D. Acharjee, C. K. Chanda, P. K. Mondal, and P. Verma, Eds. Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2020, pp. 81–90. 9
- [57] O. Breitschädel, L. Kley, H. Gräbeldinger, J. Hsieh, B. Kuhn, F. Scholz, and H. Schweizer, "Short-channel effects in algan/gan hemts," *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 238–240, 2001. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921510700007479 9
- [58] W. Wang, F. Guo, T. Chen, and K. Wang, "24.8 a W-band power amplifier with distributed common-source gan hemt and 4-way wilkinson-lange combiner achieving 6w output power and 18% pae at 95ghz," in 2020 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), 2020, pp. 376–378.
 13, 14
- [59] J. Schellenberg, B. Kim, and T. Phan, "W-band, broadband 2W GaN MMIC," in 2013 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest (MTT), 2013, pp. 1–4. 13, 14
- [60] A. Brown, K. Brown, J. Chen, D. Gritters, K. C. Hwang, E. Ko, N. Kolias, S. O'Connor, and M. Sotelo, "High power, high efficiency E-band GaN amplifier MMICs," in 2012 IEEE International Conference on Wireless Information Technology and Systems (ICWITS), 2012, pp. 1–4. 14
- [61] D. Schwantuschke, B. J. Godejohann, P. Brückner, A. Tessmann, and R. Quay, "mm-Wave operation of AlN/GaN-devices and MMICs at V- and W-band," in 2018 22nd International Microwave and Radar Conference (MIKON), 2018, pp. 238–241. 14

- [62] M. Micovic et. al, "W-band gan mmic with 842 mw output power at 88 ghz," in 2010 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium, 2010, pp. 237–239. 14
- [63] A. Brown et. al, "W-band gan power amplifier mmics," in 2011 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium, 2011, pp. 1–4. 14
- [64] Y. Niida et. al, "3.6 W/mm high power density W-band InAlGaN/GaN HEMT MMIC power amplifier," in 2016 IEEE Topical Conference on Power Amplifiers for Wireless and Radio Applications (PAWR), 2016, pp. 24–26. 14
- [65] E. Ture et. al, "First demonstration of W-band tri-gate GaN-HEMT power amplifier mmic with 30 dbm output power," in 2017 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2017, pp. 35–37. 14
- [66] W. Shaobing et. al, "W-band AlGaN/GaN MMIC PA with 3.1W output power," in 2017 14th China International Forum on Solid State Lighting: International Forum on Wide Bandgap Semiconductors China (SSLChina: IFWS), 2017, pp. 219–223. 14
- [67] P. E. Longhi, S. Colangeli, W. Ciccognani, L. Pace, R. Leblanc, and E. Limiti, "C to V-band cascode distributed amplifier design leveraging a double gate length gallium nitride on silicon process," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 409–412. 14
- [68] A. Margomenos et. al, "70–105 ghz wideband GaN power amplifiers," in 2012 7th European Microwave Integrated Circuit Conference, 2012, pp. 199–202. 14
- [69] C. F. Campbell, "Mmic power amplifier design, what mom didn't tell you," pp. 41-46, 2014. 17
- [70] E. Jones, "Coupled-Strip-Transmission-Line Filters and Directional Couplers," *IRE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 75–81, 1956. 21
- [71] S. A. Verploegh, "Passive and active component design and analysis for millimeter wave front ends," Ph.D. dissertation, University of Colorado at Boulder, 2021. 21
- [72] N. C. Miller, A. Arias-Purdue, E. Arkun, D. Brown, J. F. Buckwalter, R. L. Coffie, A. Corrion, D. J. Denninghoff, M. Elliott, D. Fanning, R. Gilbert, D. S. Green, F. Herrault, B. Heying, C. M. King,

E. Lam, J.-S. Moon, P. V. Rowell, G. Siddiqi, I. Smorchkova, J. Tai, J. Uyeda, and M. Wojtowicz, "A survey of gan hemt technologies for millimeter-wave low noise applications," *IEEE Journal of Microwaves*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 1134–1146, 2023. 25, 85

- [73] S. Verploegh, T. Sonnenberg, M. Pinto, A. Babenko, and Z. Popović, "On-chip Power Combining with 3-Stage 75–110 GHz GaN MMIC Power Amplifiers," in 2021 51st European Microwave Conference (EuMC), 2022, pp. 890–893. 26, 88, 97, 98
- [74] T. Sonnenberg, A. Romano, N. C. Miller, and Z. Popović, "A w-band gan mmic single-chip t/r front end," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. *In Review, 2023. 26, 88, 97, 98
- [75] T. Sonnenberg, A. Romano, S. Verploegh, M. Pinto, and Z. Popović, "*v* and *w*-band millimeter-wave gan mmics," *IEEE Journal of Microwaves*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 453–465, 2023. 26, 40, 88, 95, 97, 98
- [76] E. Adabi and A. M. Niknejad, "A mm-wave transformer based transmit/receive switch in 90nm CMOS technology," in 2009 European Microwave Conference (EuMC), 2009, pp. 389–392. 28
- [77] R. L. Schmid, P. Song, C. T. Coen, A. C. Ulusoy, and J. D. Cressler, "On the analysis and design of low-loss single-pole double-throw w-band switches utilizing saturated sige hbts," *IEEE Transactions* on Microwave Theory and Techniques, vol. 62, no. 11, pp. 2755–2767, 2014. 28
- [78] J. W. May and G. M. Rebeiz, "High-performance w-band sige rfics for passive millimeter-wave imaging," in 2009 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium, 2009, pp. 437–440. 28
- [79] I. Kallfass, S. Diebold, H. Massler, S. Koch, M. Seelmann-Eggebert, and A. Leuther, "Multiple-throw millimeter-wave FET switches for frequencies from 60 up to 120 GHz," in 2008 38th European Microwave Conference, 2008, pp. 1453–1456. 28, 30, 78
- [80] Y. Yashchyshyn, P. Bajurko, J. Sobolewski, P. Sai, A. Przew loka, A. Krajewska, P. Prystawko, M. Dub,
 W. Knap, S. Rumyantsev, and G. Cywiński, "Graphene/algan/gan rf switch," *Micromachines*, vol. 12, no. 11, p. 1343, 2021. 28

- [81] A. S. Cardoso, P. Saha, P. S. Chakraborty, D. M. Fleischhauer, and J. D. Cressler, "Low-loss, wideband spdt switches and switched-line phase shifter in 180-nm rf cmos on soi technology," in 2014 IEEE Radio and Wireless Symposium (RWS), 2014, pp. 199–201. 28
- [82] P. Song, R. L. Schmid, A. C. Ulusoy, and J. D. Cressler, "A high-power, low-loss W-band SPDT switch using SiGe PIN diodes," in 2014 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium, 2014, pp. 195–198. 28
- [83] F. Thome and O. Ambacher, "Highly isolating and broadband single-pole double-throw switches for millimeter-wave applications up to 330 ghz," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 1998–2009, 2018. 28
- [84] A. Margomenos et. al, "W-band gan receiver components utilizing highly scaled, next generation gan device technology," in 2014 IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium (CSICS), 2014, pp. 1–4. 28, 29
- [85] R. Caverly, High power gallium nitride devices for microwave and RF Control Applications. Villanova univ pa dept of electrical and computer engineering, 2000. 38
- [86] E. Camargo, Design of FET Frequency Multipliers and Harmonic Oscillators. Artech House, 1999, vol. 42. 46
- [87] E. O'Ciardha and S. Lidholm, "A novel balanced MMIC frequency multiplier configuration," Int. Journal IR MM-Waves, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 1049–1060, July 2000. 49
- [88] H. Fudem and E. Niehenke, "Novel millimeter wave active MMIC triplers," in 1998 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (Cat. No.98CH36192), vol. 2, June 1998, pp. 387–390 vol.2. 53
- [89] T. Sonnenberg, M. Pinto, S. Verploegh, and Z. Popović, "W-band GaN frequency multipliers," *IEEE Journal of Microwaves (in review)*, 2022. 54, 72, 98

- [90] R. Camarero, J. Marin, O. Menéndez, and P. de Paco, "On Designing a W-band Active Coherent Array," in 2011 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Workshop Series MM Wave Integr. Tech., Oct. 2011, pp. 176–179. 56, 73
- [91] J. Huang and Q. Zhao, "A W-Band Monolithic Broadwidth Frequency Multiplier on Millimeter Schottky Diode and Metamaterial," *Microw. Opt. Tech. Lett.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 525–530, Jan. 2015. 56, 73
- [92] D. Porterfield, T. Crowe, R. Bradley, and N. Erickson, "A High-Power Fixed-Tuned Millimeter-Wave Balanced Frequency Doubler," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 419–425, April. 1999. 56, 73
- [93] G. H. et al., "W-band monolithic frequency doubler using vertical GaAs varactor diode with n⁺ buried layer," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 27, pp. 213–214(1), Jan. 1991. 56, 73
- [94] N. Zhang, L. Belostotski, and J. W. Haslett, "D-Band Broadband Passive Frequency Tripler Using Antiparallel Diode-Connected nMOS Transistor Pair in 22-nm CMOS SOI," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 689–692, May 2020. 56, 73
- [95] C.-S. Lin, P.-S. Wu, M.-C. Yeh, J.-S. Fu, H.-Y. Chang, K.-Y. Lin, and H. Wang, "Analysis of Multiconductor Coupled-Line Marchand Baluns for Miniature MMIC Design," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1190–1199, June 2007. 56, 60, 73
- [96] S. Yuan and H. Schumacher, "A SiGe:C BiCMOS 140 GHz wideband frequency multiplier-by-8 with differential output," in 2013 Eur. Microw. Integr. Circuit Conf., Oct. 2013, pp. 248–251. 56, 73
- [97] B.-H. Ku, H. Chung, and G. M. Rebeiz, "A Milliwatt-Level 70–110 GHz Frequency Quadrupler With >30 dBc Harmonic Rejection," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 1697–1705, Feb. 2020. 56, 73

- [98] N. Mazor and E. Socher, "Analysis and design of an X-band-to-W-band CMOS active multiplier with improved harmonic rejection," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 1924–1933, April 2013. 56, 73
- [99] W. Chung, C.-Y. Kim, S. S. Kim, and S. Hong, "Design of 94-GHz Highly Efficient Frequency Octupler Using 47-GHz Current-Reusing Class-C Frequency Quadrupler," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 775–784, Dec. 2020. 56, 73
- [100] R. Kozhuharov, M. Bao, M. Gavell, and H. Zirath, "A W- and G-band MMIC Source Using InP HBT Technology," in 2012 IEEE/MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig., June 2012, pp. 1–3. 56, 73
- [101] V. Puyal, A. Konczykowska, P. Nouet, S. Bernard, S. Blayac, F. Jorge, M. Riet, and J. Godin, "A DC-100 GHz frequency doubler in InP DHBT technology," in 2004 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37535), vol. 1, June. 2004, pp. 167–170 Vol.1. 56, 73
- [102] I. Kallfass, A. Tessmann, H. Massler, U. Lewark, M. Kuri, M. Riessle, M. Zink, and A. Leuther, "Balanced Active Frequency Multipliers for W-band Signal Sources," in 2011 6th Eur. Microw. Int. Circuit Conf., Oct. 2011, pp. 101–104. 56, 73, 74
- [103] I. Kallfass, H. Massler, A. Tessmann, A. Leuther, M. Schlechtweg, and G. Weimann, "A Broadband Frequency Sixtupler MIMIC for the W-Band with >7 dBm Output Power and >6 dB Conversion Gain," in 2007 IEEE/MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp., July 2007, pp. 2169–2172. 56, 73
- [104] L. Pace, A. Salvucci, S. Fenu, W. Ciccognani, P. E. Longhi, S. Colangeli, E. Limiti, P. Frtjlink, and M. Renvoisé, "A Times-4 Frequency Multiplier from K- to W-band," in 2019 PIERS-Spring, June 2019, pp. 801–808. 56, 73, 74
- [105] Y. Campos-Roca, L. Verweyen, M. Fernandez-Barciela, M. C. Curras-Francos, E. Sanchez, A. Hulsmann, and M. Schlechtweg, "Millimeter-wave Active MMIC Frequency Multipliers," in 2001 31st Eur. Microw. Conf., March 2001, pp. 1–4. 56, 73, 74

- [106] Y. Ye, J. Zhang, and X.-W. Sun, "A W-Band Traveling-Wave Frequency Doubler With Output Power of 9 dBm and Power Efficiency of 11.2%," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 704–706, July 2014. 56, 73, 74
- [107] M. Kim, K. Choi, and J. Kim, "W-Band Backward Distributed Frequency Doubler Using GaAs 0.15μ m pHEMT Process," *IEEE Microw. Wireless Compon. Lett.*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 400–402, May 2019.
 56, 73, 74
- [108] M. D. Weiss and Z. Popovic, "An X/K-band Class-E High-Efficiency Frequency Doubler," in 2001 31st European Microwave Conference, 2001, pp. 1–4. 57
- [109] I. Kallfass, R. Quay, H. Massler, S. Wagner, D. Schwantuschke, C. Haupt, R. Kiefer, and O. Ambacher,
 "A single-chip 77 GHz heterodyne receiver MMIC in 100 nm AlGaN/GaN HEMT technology," in
 2011 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp., June 2011, pp. 1–4. 57, 73, 74
- [110] Y. Lee, J. East, and L. Katehi, "High-Efficiency W-band GaAs Monolithic Frequency Multipliers," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 529–535, 2004. 73
- [111] J. R. Powell, C. Viegas, S. S. Hoshiar, P. G. Huggard, and B. Alderman, "Comparing Novel MMIC and Hybrid Circuit High Efficiency GaAs Schottky Diode mm-Wave Frequency Doublers," *Electronics*, vol. 9, no. 10, p. 1718, 2020. 73
- [112] G. Ermak and P. Kuprijanov, "Development of a planar multiplier circuit for millimeter-wave frequency multipliers," in *Fourth International Kharkov Symposium 'Physics and Engineering of Millimeter and Sub-Millimeter Waves'. Symposium Proceedings (Cat. No.01EX429)*, vol. 2, 2001, pp. 696–698 vol.2.
 73
- [113] J. Lynch, E. Entchev, B. Lyons, A. Tessman, H. Massler, A. Leuther, and M. Schlechtweg, "Design and Analysis of a W-band Multiplier Chipset," in 2004 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37535), vol. 1, Oct. 2004, pp. 227–230 Vol.1. 59, 73

- [114] U. J. Lewark, L. John, S. Wagner, A. Tessmann, A. Leuther, T. Zwick, and I. Kallfass, "Ultra-Broadband W-band Frequency Multiplier-by-Twelve MMIC," in 2015 10th Eur. Microw. Int. Circuits Conf. (EuMIC), Dec. 2015, pp. 5–8. 73
- [115] M. Palomba, S. Colangeli, W. Ciccognani, and E. Limiti, "High spectral purity X- to W-band active GaAs monolithic frequency multiplier," in 2014 Int. Workshop Integr. Nonlinear Microw. and MM-Wave Circuits (INMMiC), May 2014, pp. 1–3. 73
- [116] K. Shinohara et. al, "Scaling of GaN HEMTs and Schottky Diodes for Submillimeter-Wave MMIC Applications," *IEEE Trans. on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 10, pp. 2982–2996, July 2013. 57
- [117] S. Verploegh, T. Sonnenberg, M. Pinto, A. Babenko, and Z. Popovic, "On-chip Power Combining with 3-Stage 75–110 GHz GaN MMIC Power Amplifiers," in 2022 Eur. Microw. Conf. (EuMC), June 2022. 57
- [118] J. Schellenberg, B. Kim, and T. Phan, "W-band, broadband 2W GaN mmic," in 2013 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest (MTT), June 2013, pp. 1–4. 57
- [119] A. Romano, T. Sonnenberg, S. Verploegh, T. Barton, and Z. Popovic, "A W-Band GaN MMIC Continuous 90° Reflective Phase Shifter," in 2022 IEEE 22nd Annu. Wireless Microw. Technol. Conf., April 2022, pp. 1–4. 57
- [120] A. Margomenos, A. Kurdoghlian, M. Micovic, K. Shinohara, H. Moyer, D. C. Regan, R. M. Grabar, C. McGuire, M. D. Wetzel, and D. H. Chow, "W-Band GaN Receiver Components Utilizing Highly Scaled, Next Generation GaN Device Technology," in 2014 IEEE Compound Semicond. Integr. Circuit Symp. (CSICS), Oct. 2014, pp. 1–4. 57
- [121] S. A. Maas and S. A. Maas, *Nonlinear Microwave and RF Circuits*. Lightning Source UK. Ltd., 2011. 59
- [122] K.-L. Deng and H. Wang, "A miniature broad-band pHEMT MMIC balanced distributed doubler," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 1257–1261, April 2003. 59

- [123] C. Schworer, Y. Roca, A. Leuther, A. Tessmann, M. Seelmann-Eggebert, H. Massler, M. Schlechtweg, and G. Weimann, "A 150 to 220 GHz Balanced Doubler MMIC Using a 50 nm Metamorphic HEMT Technology," in *Eur. GaAs Other Semicond. Appl. Symp.*, *GAAS 2005*, Oct. 2005, pp. 565–568. 59
- [124] S. Basu and S. Maas, "Design and Performance of a Planar Star Mixer," *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 2028–2030, Nov. 1993. 60
- [125] J.-M. Lee, W.-J. Chang, D. M. Kang, B.-G. Min, H. S. Yoon, S.-J. Chang, H.-W. Jung, W. Kim, J. Jung, J. Kim, M. Seo, and S. Kim, "W-Band MMIC chipset in 0.1-um mHEMT technology," *ETRI Journal*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 549–561, Aug. 2020. 74
- [126] J. Lynch, E. Entchev, B. Lyons, A. Tessmann, H. Massler, A. Leuther, and M. Schlechtweg, "A broadband 75 - 100 GHz MMIC doubler," in 34th Eur. Microw. Conf., 2004., vol. 2, April 2004, pp. 1017–1020. 74
- [127] V. Dyadyuk, L. Stokes, and M. Shen, "Integrated W-band GaAs MMIC Modules for Multi-Gigabit Wireless Communication Systems," in 2008 Global Symposium on Millimeter Waves, 2008, pp. 25–28.
 76
- [128] T.-N. Luo, C.-H. E. Wu, and Y.-J. E. Chen, "A 77-GHz CMOS Automotive Radar Transceiver With Anti-Interference Function," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3247–3255, 2013. 76
- [129] Y. Kawano, T. Suzuki, M. Sato, T. Hirose, and K. Joshin, "A 77GHz transceiver in 90nm CMOS," in 2009 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - Digest of Technical Papers, 2009, pp. 310–311,311a. 76
- [130] K. Chang, G. Dow, H. Wang, T. Chen, K. Tan, B. Allen, I. Berenz, J. Wehling, and R. Lin, "A W-band single-chip transceiver for FMCW radar," in *IEEE 1993 Microwave and Millimeter-Wave Monolithic Circuits Symposium Digest of Papers*, 1993, pp. 41–44. 76

- [131] D. Lo, K. Chang, R. Lin, E. Lin, H. Wang, M. Biedenbender, G. Dow, and B. Allen, "A singlechip W-band transceiver with front-end switching receiver for FMCW radar applications," in *IEEE* 1995 Microwave and Millimeter-Wave. Monolithic Circuits Symposium. Digest of Papers, 1995, pp. 225–228. 76
- [132] F. Herrault *et al.*, "Heterogeneous Integration Technologies for Next-Generation RF and mm-Wave Subsystems," in *Proc. CS MANTECH Conf*, 2018. 88
- [133] A. Romano, T. Sonnenberg, S. Verploegh, T. Barton, and Z. Popovic, "A W-Band GaN MMIC Continuous 90° Reflective Phase Shifter, year=2022," in 2022 IEEE 22nd Annual Wireless and Microwave Technology Conference (WAMICON), pp. 1–4. 88

ProQuest Number: 30992959

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality and completeness of this reproduction is dependent on the quality and completeness of the copy made available to ProQuest.



Distributed by ProQuest LLC (2024). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author unless otherwise noted.

This work may be used in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons license or other rights statement, as indicated in the copyright statement or in the metadata associated with this work. Unless otherwise specified in the copyright statement or the metadata, all rights are reserved by the copyright holder.

> This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code and other applicable copyright laws.

Microform Edition where available © ProQuest LLC. No reproduction or digitization of the Microform Edition is authorized without permission of ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346 USA